Searching for High Frequency Gravitational Waves with Phonons

Yonatan Kahn⁰,^{1,*} Jan Schütte-Engel⁰,^{2,3,1,†} and Tanner Trickle^{64,‡}

¹Illinois Center for Advanced Studies of the Universe and Department of Physics,

University of Illinois Urbana-Champaign, Urbana, IL 61801, USA

²Department of Physics, University of California, Berkeley, CA 94720, USA

³RIKEN iTHEMS, Wako, Saitama 351-0198, Japan

⁴Theoretical Physics Division, Fermi National Accelerator Laboratory, Batavia, IL 60510, USA

(Dated: November 30, 2023)

The gravitational wave (GW) spectrum at frequencies above a kHz is a largely unexplored frontier. We show that detectors with sensitivity to single-phonon excitations in crystal targets can search for GWs with frequencies, THz $\leq f \leq 100$ THz, corresponding to the range of optical phonon energies, meV $\leq \omega \leq 100$ meV. Such detectors are already being built to search for light dark matter (DM), and therefore sensitivity to high-frequency GWs will be achieved as a byproduct. We begin by deriving the absorption rate of a general GW signal into single phonons. We then focus on carefully defining the detector sensitivity to monochromatic and chirp signals, and compute the detector sensitivity for many proposed light DM detection targets. The detector sensitivity is then compared to the signal strength of candidate high-frequency GW sources, e.g., superradiant annihilation and black hole inspiral, as well as other recent detector proposals in the MHz $\leq f \leq 100$ THz frequency range. With a judicious choice of target materials, a collection of detectors could optimistically achieve sensitivities to monochromatic signals with $h_0 \sim 10^{-23} - 10^{-25}$ over THz $\leq f \leq 100$ THz.

[†] janschue@berkeley.edu

[‡] ttrickle@fnal.gov

CONTENTS

I.	Introduction	3
II.	Theoretical Foundation	4
	A. General Relativistic Forces	5
	B. Absorption Rate Calculation	6
	1. Non-Polar Targets	8
	2. Polar Targets	9
III.	Sensitivity To Gravitational Waves	11
IV.	Sources	15
	A. Superradiant Annihilation	17
	B. Black Hole Inspiral	19
V.	Conclusion	19
	Acknowledgments	21
A.	Sensitivity to Stochastic Gravitational Waves	22
	References	22

I. INTRODUCTION

The prediction of gravitational waves (GWs) by Einstein in 1916 sparked a century long search for their existence. The first indirect evidence came from measurements of the orbital decay of the Hulse-Taylor pulsar [1], which were found consistent with GW emission [2]. Direct evidence of the existence of GWs would follow in 2016 when GWs from an inspiraling pair of black holes (BHs) were measured [3]. Even more recently the NANOGrav collaboration reported evidence of a stochastic GW background [4–6]. These initial direct detections mark the beginning of "GW astronomy" as a viable method to study the universe.

Today the search for GWs is rapidly expanding. Continued development of the aLIGO [7, 8], aVirgo [9], and KAGRA [10–14] interferometers have improved the sensitivity to GWs in the 10 Hz $\leq f \leq 10^3$ Hz frequency range, and future ground-based interferometers, e.g., Cosmic Explorer [15, 16] and the Einstein Telescope [17–20] will further enhance sensitivity in this frequency band. Future space-based interferometers, e.g., BBO [21–23], DECIGO [24–26], and LISA [27, 28], will explore lower frequencies, 10^{-4} Hz $\leq f \leq 1$ Hz, with much longer arm lengths, while the gap between ground-based and space-based inteferometers could be covered by atom interferometers [29, 30]. Meanwhile, pulsar timing arrays (PTAs) such as the EPTA [31–33], NANOGrav [34–37], PPTA [38, 39], and the collective IPTA [40–43] have been precisely monitoring many pulsars for $\mathcal{O}(10)$ years, earning them sensitivity in the 10^{-9} Hz $\leq f \leq 10^{-6}$ Hz frequency range. While this leaves the "µHz gap" in the 10^{-6} Hz $\leq f \leq 10^{-4}$ Hz frequency range, there are proposals to bridge this gap, e.g., using asteroids in the solar system [44] or precisely ranging the moon or orbiting satellites [45]. Clearly, the future of GW detection at frequencies $f \leq 10^3$ Hz is promising.

At high frequencies above the ground based interferometer band, many different proposals have been put forward; see Refs. [46, 47] for some recent reviews. Optically levitated sensors [48] and experiments utilizing the Mössbaur effect [49] may be sensitive in the $10^3 \text{ Hz} \leq f \leq 10^6 \text{ Hz}$ range, bulk acoustic wave resonators [50–52] may be sensitive in the $10^6 \text{ Hz} \leq f \leq 10^9 \text{ Hz}$ range (with demonstrated sensitivity at $f \sim 5 \times 10^6 \text{ Hz}$ [52]), collections of different short arm laser interferometric experiments [53–57] can also explore the $10^3 \text{ Hz} \leq f \leq 10^9 \text{ Hz}$ range, and graviton to magnon conversion has been shown to have potential for searching at $f \sim 10^{10} \text{ Hz}$ [58]. Proposals such as MAGO 2.0 [59] and using optical clocks [60] may be sensitive to the $10^3 \text{ Hz} \leq f \leq 10^9 \text{ Hz}$ range with single experiments. Furthermore, it has been shown that existing experiments searching for axion dark matter (DM) with, e.g., microwave cavities [61] and LC circuits [62], are also sensitive to high-frequency GWs, allowing for synergistic searches for DM and GWs with the same detector in the $10^3 \text{ Hz} \leq f \leq 10^{10} \text{ Hz}$ range. For frequencies above 10^{10} Hz , and below 10^{14} Hz where light shining through wall experiments, e.g., ALPS, [63], CAST [64], and OSQAR [65] have sensitivity [66], there is an absence of searches.

In this work we show that high-frequency GWs can be detected via conversion into single phonons in crystal targets. Phonons are quanta of lattice vibrations, and most crystal targets have gapped phonon modes, with energies in the $1 \text{ meV} \leq \omega \leq 100 \text{ meV}$ range, corresponding to frequencies $10^{12} \text{ Hz} \leq f \leq 10^{14} \text{ Hz}$. Because these modes are gapped, an incoming GW can be kinematically matched to the phonon dispersion relation, and therefore can resonantly vibrate the ions in the lattice, creating a phonon. This is somewhat analogous to an incoming photon converting to a phonon in a "polar" crystal, i.e., crystals with charged ions in the unit cell. If an incoming photon is kinematically matched to a gapped phonon mode in a polar target, the photon will resonantly drive dipole oscillations, which is equivalent to exciting the gapped phonon mode.¹

¹ Gapped phonon modes exist in any crystal where the number of atoms in the unit cell is greater than one. They are often referred to as "optical" phonons, since they couple to light in polar targets. However they exist in non-polar, e.g., Silicon and Germanium, targets well.

4

The scarcity of high-frequency GW detectors is in part due to the difficulty of generating sufficiently strong GWs with astrophysical or cosmological sources. The generic problem of creating abundant high-frequency GWs is that the rapid oscillations necessary to generate high frequencies can only be achieved with astrophysically small masses, thereby limiting the signal strength. For example, this is precisely the difficulty in generating high-frequency GWs from the inspiral of two BHs. As we discuss in Sec. IV, the maximum BH mass, M_{max} , which can generate GWs at a frequency ω is $M_{\text{max}} \sim 10^{-8} M_{\odot} (\text{THz}/\omega)$. This is a much smaller mass, corresponding to a much smaller signal, than the $\mathcal{O}(10) M_{\odot}$ BHs LIGO is sensitive to.

However, it is not physically impossible to generate detectable high-frequency GWs, and studying the sensitivity of current technology, likely built for other reasons, e.g., DM direct detection, provides excellent motivation for further studies of high-frequency GW sources. Indeed, perhaps the most important feature of our proposed detection scheme is that the detectors are *already* being built for DM direct detection experiments. Direct detection of DM by singlephonon excitations has been shown to be a promising route to search for both scattering of low-mass (sub-MeV) DM [67–79] and absorption of sub-eV bosonic DM [68, 69, 77, 80–82]. The TESSARACT experiment [83] plans to utilize both Al₂O₃ and GaAs as targets. Therefore, similar to the repurposing of axion DM detectors as GW detectors [47, 61], any future DM direct detection experiment utilizing single-phonon excitations can directly be used as a GW detector.

This paper is organized as follows. In Sec. II we derive the GW absorption rate into single phonons in two steps. First, in Sec. II A, we summarize the general-relativistic derivation for the forces on a lattice of point masses due to an incoming GW. Then in Sec. II B, using the interaction Hamiltonian generated by the GW force, we derive the absorption rate into single-phonon excitations in both polar and non-polar targets. In Sec. III we begin by carefully defining the detector sensitivity to *deterministic* signals, i.e., those for which the GW strain is non-stochastic. We then discuss the detector sensitivity for a wide variety of target materials previously considered in the context of DM direct detection [73]. In Sec. IV we discuss the general difficulty with generating high-frequency GWs, and then consider specific examples of potential high-frequency sources, such as superradiant annihilation IV A and BH inspiral IV B, carefully understanding their signal strength in the context of counting experiments. We conclude in Sec. V. A brief discussion of constraints on stochastic sources comprises Appendix A.

II. THEORETICAL FOUNDATION

The interaction of GWs with solid objects can be described in multiple ways. If the wavelength of the incoming GW is much larger than the detector, the deformation of the detector can be described using the theory of elasticity [84–86]. However, when the frequency of the GW is much larger, comparable to the O(meV - 100 meV) gapped phonons, the low energy effective theory of elasticity is no longer appropriate. The GW wavelengths, $O(10 \,\mu\text{m} - \text{mm})$ are smaller than the size of bulk single crystals. While much smaller than the size of the detecting crystal, these wavelengths are still much larger than the interatomic spacing, $O(10^{-10} \text{ m})$. Therefore, similar to how O(meV) photons couple to the dipole moment of a unit cell in polar targets to generate phonons, the effect of an incoming GW can be intuitively understood as a coupling to the quadrupole mass moment of the unit cell, which then generates phonons. Since the GW interaction is more similar to the photon interaction, computing the number of phonons produced from GWs proceeds more naturally by inheriting methods from particle and condensed matter physics.

The purpose of this section is to derive the absorption rate of incoming GWs into single-phonon excitations. We begin in Sec. II A with a review of the derivation of the force on a point mass within general relativity, and then generalize to a lattice of point masses. Furthermore we detail the necessary assumptions needed to treat the effect of the incoming GW on each point mass as a classical force. The potential energy associated with this force is the starting point of Sec. IIB, and defines the interaction Hamiltonian. For non-polar targets, the focus of Sec. IIB1, the absorption rate then follows simply from Fermi's Golden Rule, and we derive the necessary matrix elements. In polar targets, Sec. IIB2, the phonons mix with the photon, complicating the absorption rate derivation. To compute the absorption rate for these targets we utilize the formalism from Refs. [82, 87, 88], which has carefully accounted for these mixing effects in the context of light DM absorption. We will work in natural units, $\hbar = c = 1$, and use a mostly positive, (-, +, +, +), metric signature.

A. General Relativistic Forces

Our goal is to understand how a weak GW interacts with a crystal lattice, and therefore the natural starting point is understanding how a single mass interacts with a GW. While this is a textbook discussion [86, 89], the general coordinate invariance of GR renders this a delicate subject. For example, in transverse-traceless (TT) coordinates the coordinate position of a single mass is unaffected by a passing GW. However this is simply an artifact of TT coordinates, reminding us that coordinates have no inherent meaning in GR; physics is encoded in coordinate invariants, e.g., proper distances. Fermi-normal (FN) coordinates equip the coordinates with physical meaning by defining the coordinates as the proper distance to an observer.²

Following Ref. [90], the equation of motion for a test mass in FN coordinates, assuming a non-relativistic mass and observer at the origin, is given by,

$$\frac{d^2x^i}{dt^2} \approx \frac{1}{2}\ddot{h}_{ij}x^j, \qquad (1)$$

to linear order in h, where the GW perturbation, $h_{\mu\nu}$, is defined as a perturbative addition to the metric, $g_{\mu\nu} \approx \eta_{\mu\nu} + h_{\mu\nu}$, and $\eta_{\mu\nu}$ is the Minkowski metric. Note that h_{ij} in defined in TT coordinates and the right hand side of Eq. (1) is coordinate independent to linear order in h: TT and FN coordinates are related by $\mathcal{O}(h)$ [90], and therefore a coordinate transformation would transform the right hand side of Eq. (1) from $\mathcal{O}(h) \to \mathcal{O}(h) + \mathcal{O}(h^2)$. From Eq. (1) we see that a passing GW acts like a fictitious tidal force, F^i ,

$$F^{i} = \frac{m}{2} \ddot{h}_{ij} x^{j}. \qquad (2)$$

This result is straightforwardly generalized to a crystal lattice, i.e., each mass experiences a force, $F_I^4 = m_I \tilde{h}_{ij} x_I^j/2$, where I indexes the mass.

In addition to gravitational forces, the crystal lattice dynamics are of course influenced by the electromagnetic forces binding the crystal. These determine the leading order, $\mathcal{O}(h^0)$, contributions to the position and are simply the equilibrium positions of the ions (or, equivalently, atoms in non-polar targets), $x_I^i \approx x_{I,0}^i$. Perturbations around this equilibrium, $u_I^i(t)$, induced by the GW are then driven by the force in Eq. (2), and back to equilibrium by the crystal harmonic "spring" forces. The equation of motion, at $\mathcal{O}(h)$, is then given by,

$$m_I \frac{d^2 u_I^i}{dt^2} + \sum_J V_{IJ}^{ij} u_J^j = \frac{m_I}{2} \ddot{h}_{ij} x_{I,0}^j , \qquad (3)$$

² Recent literature [61, 90] has explicitly demonstrated the applicability of FN coordinates beyond the usual long wavelength approximation, $\lambda \gg L$, where λ is the GW wavelength, and L is the size of the detector, to $\lambda \gg \sqrt{h}L$ which is easily satisfied for the detectors considered here.

where V_{IJ} is the spring constant connecting mass I to mass J. Note that the V_{IJ}^{ij} only need to be determined to $\mathcal{O}(h^0)$. The perturbations themselves are $\mathcal{O}(h)$, and therefore, analogous to the driving GW force, a coordinate transformation would only generate shifts from $\mathcal{O}(h)$ to $\mathcal{O}(h) + \mathcal{O}(h^2)$. Therefore the effect of a GW on a lattice of masses is to introduce a fictitious force, Eq. (2), which can drive the phonon modes in a crystal, analogous to a passing electromagnetic wave.

B. Absorption Rate Calculation

Since phonons are the quanta of lattice vibrations, the natural formalism to discuss single-phonon absorption rates is quantum mechanics. In calculating the absorption rate, the incoming GW may be treated as either a classical GW background or an incoming graviton [91], analogous to equivalence of describing a photon classically or quantum mechanically when considering light-matter interactions. We will choose the latter option for consistency with the phonon description. Lattice vibrations are described as oscillations around an equilibrium position; the position of the j^{th} ion in the ℓ^{th} unit cell of the crystal is

$$\mathbf{x}_{\ell j}(t) = \mathbf{x}_{\ell j}^{0} + \mathbf{u}_{\ell j}(t) = \mathbf{r}_{\ell}^{0} + \mathbf{x}_{j}^{0} + \mathbf{u}_{\ell j}(t), \qquad (4)$$

where $\mathbf{x}_{\ell j}^{0}$ is the equilibrium position, \mathbf{r}_{ℓ}^{0} is the lattice vector of the ℓ^{th} unit cell, \mathbf{x}_{j}^{0} is the equilibrium position relative to the center of the unit cell, and $\mathbf{u}_{\ell j}(t)$ is the displacement of the ion away from equilibrium. When quantizing the lattice vibrations [92], $\mathbf{u}_{\ell j}(t)$ can be expanded in terms of phonon raising and lowering operators:

$$\mathbf{u}_{\ell j}(t) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2Nm_j}} \sum_{\nu \mathbf{k}} e^{-i\omega_{\nu \mathbf{k}}t} \frac{e^{i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{x}_{\ell j}^0}}{\sqrt{\omega_{\nu \mathbf{k}}}} \left(a_{\nu \mathbf{k}} + a_{\nu,-\mathbf{k}}^{\dagger}\right) \epsilon_{j\nu \mathbf{k}}, \tag{5}$$

where N is the number of unit cells in the lattice, m_j is the mass of the j^{th} ion, ν indexes the band number, **k** indexes the first Brillouin zone (1BZ) momentum vectors, $\omega_{\nu \mathbf{k}}$ is the phonon energy, $a_{\nu \mathbf{k}}$ and $a^{\dagger}_{\nu \mathbf{k}}$ are the raising and lowering operators, respectively, which satisfy the canonical commutation relations, $[a_{\nu \mathbf{k}}, a^{\dagger}_{\nu' \mathbf{k}'}] = \delta_{\nu\nu'}\delta_{\mathbf{k}\mathbf{k}'}$; and $\epsilon_{\nu j\mathbf{k}}$ are the phonon polarization vectors and satisfy $\epsilon_{\nu j-\mathbf{k}} = \epsilon^*_{\nu j\mathbf{k}}$.

The interaction Hamiltonian between phonons and a GW is determined by the coupling of $\mathbf{u}_{\ell j}$ to h_{ij} , which is due to the force in Eq. (3),

$$\delta H = -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{\ell j} m_j \, u^i_{\ell j} \, \ddot{h}_{ik} \, x^{0,k}_{\ell j} \,. \tag{6}$$

This interaction Hamiltonian is the basis for the absorption rate calculation. At first sight one might simply wish to apply Fermi's Golden Rule to compute the graviton induced single-phonon transition rate. However, in *polar* targets, where the ions have charge, Q_j , the phonon mixes with the photon, and screening can occur. Therefore we split the absorption rate in to two calculations. In Sec. II B1 we consider *non-polar* materials, where $Q_j = 0$, and Fermi's Golden Rule may be straightforwardly applied. In Sec. II B2 we consider general materials, and compute the absorption rate using the optical theorem, following the derivation in Ref. [82]. While the approach in Sec. II B2 is more general, and reproduces the results in Sec. II B1 in the limit of a non-polar material, it is also more technically involved.

Before continuing it is worthwhile to introduce notation common to both sections. It will be useful to work with the canonically-normalized GW field as opposed to the perturbations in the metric directly. This involves a rescaling, $h_{ij} \rightarrow \sqrt{16\pi G} h_{ij}$, which transforms the interaction Hamiltonian in Eq. (6) to

$$\delta H = -\sqrt{4\pi G} \sum_{\ell j} m_j \, u^i_{\ell j} \, \ddot{h}_{ik} \, x^{0,k}_{\ell j} \,, \tag{7}$$

where h_{ij} now has mass dimension one, and is quantized in the TT frame as,

$$h^{ij}(\mathbf{x},t) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{V}} \sum_{\lambda \mathbf{p}} e^{-i\omega_{\mathbf{p}}t} \frac{e^{i\mathbf{p}\cdot\mathbf{x}}}{\sqrt{\omega_{\mathbf{p}}}} \left(a_{\lambda \mathbf{p}} + a^{\dagger}_{\lambda,-\mathbf{p}} \right) e^{ij}_{\lambda}(\hat{\mathbf{p}}) \,, \tag{8}$$

where $\omega_{\mathbf{p}} = |\mathbf{p}|$, and the overall normalization is found by equating the energy density, $\rho_{\mathrm{GW}} = \langle \dot{h}_{ij}\dot{h}^{ij}\rangle/2$, to the quantum mechanical Hamiltonian density, $H/V = (1/V) \sum_{\lambda \mathbf{p}} \omega_{\mathbf{p}} a^{\dagger}_{\lambda \mathbf{p}} a_{\lambda \mathbf{p}}$ [93] with polarization vectors normalized to $e^{\lambda}_{ij} e^{ij}_{\lambda'} = \delta^{\lambda\lambda'}$.³ Additionally we take the incoming GW to have four momentum, $Q^{\mu} = (\omega, \mathbf{q}) = (\omega, \omega \hat{\mathbf{n}})$, where $\omega = 2\pi f$ is the GW frequency and $\mathbf{q} = \omega \hat{\mathbf{n}}$ is the GW momentum.

The absorption rate per incoming graviton of polarization λ is given by Γ_{λ} . The total absorption rate, per detector exposure, for any kind of GW with polarization λ , is given by,

$$R_{\lambda} = \frac{1}{\rho_T} \int \frac{dn_{\rm GW}^{\lambda}}{df d\hat{\mathbf{n}}} \Gamma_{\lambda}(f, \hat{\mathbf{n}}) \, df d\hat{\mathbf{n}} \,, \tag{9}$$

where ρ_T is the target mass density, and $n_{\rm GW}^{\lambda}$ is the number density of the $\lambda^{\rm th}$ polarization of GWs. The differential energy density is related to the number density by $d\rho_{\rm GW}^{\lambda} = 2\pi f dn_{\rm GW}^{\lambda}$. Assuming the incoming GW is isotropic and independent of polarization,

$$\frac{dn_{\rm GW}^{\lambda}}{df d\hat{\mathbf{n}}} = \frac{1}{2\pi f} \frac{d\rho_{\rm GW}^{\lambda}}{df d\hat{\mathbf{n}}} = \frac{1}{2\pi f} \frac{1}{4\pi} \frac{d\rho_{\rm GW}^{\lambda}}{df} = \frac{1}{2\pi f} \frac{1}{4\pi} \frac{1}{2} \frac{d\rho_{\rm GW}}{df} = \frac{\rho_c}{16\pi^2 f^2} \Omega_{\rm GW}(f) \,, \tag{10}$$

where $\rho_c = 3H_0^2/8\pi G$ is the critical density, H_0 is the Hubble constant today and $\Omega_{GW}(f) \equiv (1/\rho_c) d\rho_{GW}/d\log f$. Substituting Eq. (10) in to Eq. (9), and averaging over the GW polarizations to find the total, averaged, GW absorption rate, R, gives

$$R \equiv \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\lambda} R_{\lambda} = \frac{1}{4\pi} \frac{\rho_c}{\rho_T} \int \frac{1}{f^2} \Omega_{\rm GW}(f) \Gamma(f) \, df \tag{11}$$

$$\Gamma(f) \equiv \frac{1}{8\pi} \sum_{\lambda} \int \Gamma_{\lambda}(f, \hat{\mathbf{n}}) \, d\hat{\mathbf{n}} \,, \tag{12}$$

where we have defined $\Gamma(f)$ as the polarization and angularly averaged absorption rate per GW. Therefore to compute R in Eq. (11), we need to compute Γ_{λ} , which will be the focus of Secs. II B 1 and II B 2.

For both polar and non-polar targets, in order to compute Γ_{λ} the phonon energies $\omega_{\nu \mathbf{k}}$, polarization eigenvectors $\epsilon_{\nu j \mathbf{k}}$, and equilibrium ion positions \mathbf{x}_{j}^{0} are needed. We calculate these with first-principles methods similar to Refs. [70, 73, 74, 76, 80, 82], which we briefly summarize here. Using VASP [94–96] the ions and electrons in the lattice are relaxed to their minimum energy configuration, which sets the equilibrium positions, and perturbing the ions away from these minima allows calculation of the "force constants", $\mathbf{V}_{\ell\ell'jj'}$, which define the harmonic phonon Hamiltonian,

$$H_{\rm ph} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\ell j} m_j \, \dot{\mathbf{u}}_{\ell j} \cdot \dot{\mathbf{u}}_{\ell j} + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\ell \ell' j j'} \mathbf{u}_{\ell' j'} \cdot \mathbf{V}_{\ell \ell' j j'} \cdot \mathbf{u}_{\ell j} \,. \tag{13}$$

Then $\mathbf{V}_{\ell\ell'jj'}$ is diagonalized with the help of phonopy [97, 98] to find the phonon eigensystem, and the final absorption rate, R in Eq. (11), is computed with the help of PhonoDark-abs [82].

³ This choice of normalization for the GW polarization tensors is different than, e.g., Ref. [86], which chooses to normalize as $e_{ij}^{\lambda} e_{\lambda'}^{ij} = 2\delta^{\lambda\lambda'}$.

1. Non-Polar Targets

Since the atoms at each site in non-polar targets are electrically neutral, there is no phonon-photon mixing and the absorption rate can be computed straightforwardly with Fermi's Golden Rule. Specifically, we will compute the transition rate due to the interaction Hamiltonian δH in Eq. (7) from an initial state, $|I\rangle = |\lambda, f, \hat{\mathbf{n}}\rangle \otimes |0\rangle$, containing zero phonons and an incoming graviton, to a final state, $|F\rangle = |0\rangle \otimes |\nu, \mathbf{k}\rangle$, containing zero gravitons and one phonon indexed by its band number ν and crystal momentum vector \mathbf{k} . This rate is given by

$$\Gamma_{\lambda}(f, \hat{\mathbf{n}}) = 2\pi \sum_{\nu \mathbf{k}} |\langle F|\delta H|I\rangle|^2 \delta(\omega - \omega_{\nu \mathbf{k}}).$$
⁽¹⁴⁾

where δH is evaluated at t = 0, since the time dependence has been factored out to provide the energy conserving delta function as in ordinary time-dependent perturbation theory, and $\langle I|I\rangle = \langle F|F\rangle = 1$. The phonon contribution to the matrix element is computed using Eq. (5),

$$\langle \nu, \mathbf{k} | \mathbf{u}_{\ell j} | 0 \rangle = \frac{e^{-i\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{x}_{\ell j}^{0}}}{\sqrt{2Nm_{j}\omega_{\nu\mathbf{k}}}} \epsilon_{j\nu\mathbf{k}}^{*} \equiv \frac{e^{-i\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{x}_{\ell j}^{0}}}{\sqrt{N}} \mathbf{T}_{j\nu\mathbf{k}} \approx \frac{e^{-i\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{r}_{\ell}^{0}}}{\sqrt{N}} \mathbf{T}_{j\nu\mathbf{k}} \,, \tag{15}$$

where $\mathbf{u}_{\ell j} \equiv \mathbf{u}_{\ell j}(t=0), |\nu, \mathbf{k}\rangle = a_{\nu \mathbf{k}}^{\dagger}|0\rangle$, we have defined the phonon transition matrix element, $\mathbf{T}_{j\nu\mathbf{k}}$, and used the long-wavelength approximation $|\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{x}_{j}^{0}| \ll 1$, which is true for the momentum transfers of interest here since $|\mathbf{k}| \sim \omega \sim \text{meV}$ and $|\mathbf{x}_{j}^{0}| \sim \text{\AA} \sim (\text{keV})^{-1}$.

The graviton contribution to $\langle F|\delta H|I\rangle$ is then given by evaluating the matrix element of $\ddot{h}_{ij}(\mathbf{x}^0_{\ell j}) \equiv \ddot{h}_{ij}(\mathbf{x}^0_{\ell j}, 0)$ in Eq. (8), using the quantization of the graviton field from Eq. (8),

$$\langle 0|\ddot{h}^{ij}(\mathbf{x}^{0}_{\ell j})|\lambda, f, \hat{\mathbf{n}}\rangle = -\sqrt{\frac{\omega^{3}}{V}} e^{i\mathbf{q}\cdot\mathbf{x}^{0}_{\ell j}} e^{ij}_{\lambda}(\hat{\mathbf{n}}) \approx -\sqrt{\frac{\omega^{3}}{V}} e^{i\mathbf{q}\cdot\mathbf{r}^{0}_{\ell}} e^{ij}_{\lambda}(\hat{\mathbf{n}}), \qquad (16)$$

where $|\lambda, f, \hat{\mathbf{n}}\rangle = a_{\lambda \mathbf{q}}^{\dagger} |0\rangle$ and in the last step we made the same long-wavelength approximation $|\mathbf{q} \cdot \mathbf{x}_{j}^{0}| \ll 1$ as in Eq. (15).

Substituting Eqs. (15) and (16) into $\langle F | \delta H | I \rangle$ gives

$$\langle F|\delta H|I\rangle = \frac{\sqrt{4\pi G}}{N} \sqrt{\frac{\omega^3}{\Omega}} e_{ik}^{\lambda}(\hat{\mathbf{n}}) \sum_{\ell j} e^{i(\mathbf{q}-\mathbf{k})\cdot\mathbf{r}_{\ell}^0} m_j x_{\ell j}^{0,i} T_{j\nu\mathbf{k}}^k, \qquad (17)$$

where $\Omega = V/N$ is the volume of the unit cell. Eq. (17) can be simplified further since the phonon transition matrix elements satisfy the "coupling to mass" [68, 69, 71, 80] sum rule, $\sum_{j} m_{j} \mathbf{T}_{j\nu\mathbf{k}} = 0$, when ν runs over the gapped, optical modes. Therefore, when expanding $\mathbf{x}_{\ell j}^{0}$ the term proportional to \mathbf{r}_{ℓ}^{0} vanishes, and using $\sum_{\ell} e^{i(\mathbf{q}-\mathbf{k})\cdot\mathbf{r}_{\ell}} = N\delta_{\mathbf{q},\mathbf{k}}$ further simplifies Eq. (17) to⁴

$$\langle F|\delta H|I\rangle = \delta_{\mathbf{q},\mathbf{k}} \sqrt{\frac{4\pi G\omega^3}{\Omega}} e_{ik}^{\lambda}(\hat{\mathbf{n}}) \sum_{j} m_j x_j^{0,i} T_{j\nu\mathbf{k}}^k \,. \tag{18}$$

Lastly, substituting Eq. (18) in to Eq. (14), we obtain

$$\Gamma_{\lambda}(f, \hat{\mathbf{n}}) = \frac{8\pi^2 G \omega^3}{\Omega} \sum_{\nu} \left(\sum_{j} m_j \, x_j^{0,i} \, e_{ik}^{\lambda} \, T_{j\nu \mathbf{q}}^k \right) \left(\sum_{j} m_j \, x_j^{0,i} \, e_{ik}^{\lambda} \, T_{j\nu \mathbf{q}}^k \right)^* \delta(\omega - \omega_{\nu}) \,, \tag{19}$$

where we have approximated $\omega_{\nu q} \approx \omega_{\nu}$, as appropriate for momentum transfers well within the 1BZ.

⁴ Note that the coupling to mass effect also enforces independence of the final result from the absolute position of the unit cell center. To see this, imagine choosing a new center, shifted by some $\Delta \mathbf{x}$, such that $\mathbf{x}_j^0 \to \mathbf{x}_j^0 + \Delta \mathbf{x}$. The contribution to $\langle F|\delta H|I\rangle$ in Eq. (18) from $\Delta \mathbf{x}$ then vanishes due to the coupling to mass effect.

2. Polar Targets

If the ions on the lattice sites have net electric charge, then they will also couple to the photon in addition to any incoming GW. This mixing introduces screening effects which frequently arise when studying absorption or scattering of light DM [68, 81, 82, 87, 88, 99, 100]. Accounting for this screening will require introducing some formalism which has appeared in Refs. [82, 87, 88]. While technically more complex, this formalism will also apply to non-polar targets and provide a rigorous method for smearing the delta function in Eq. (19), in addition to being able to account for mixing effects in polar targets.

Consider an effective Lagrangian containing the graviton and photon fields, which are mixed by self-energies containing states in the medium, e.g., phonons or electrons,

$$\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}_{h}^{0} + \mathcal{L}_{A}^{0} - \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} h_{\mu\nu} & A_{\rho} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \Pi_{hh}^{\mu\nu,\,\mu'\nu'} & \Pi_{hA}^{\mu\nu,\,\rho'} \\ \Pi_{Ah}^{\rho,\,\mu'\nu'} & \Pi_{AA}^{\rho\rho'} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} h_{\mu'\nu'} \\ A_{\rho'} \end{pmatrix}$$
(20)

$$\mathcal{L}_{h}^{0} = -\frac{1}{2} \left(\partial^{\mu} h^{\nu\rho} \partial_{\mu} h_{\nu\rho} - 2 \, \partial^{\mu} h^{\nu\rho} \partial_{\nu} h_{\mu\rho} + 2 \, \partial^{\mu} h \partial^{\nu} h_{\nu\mu} - \partial^{\mu} h \partial_{\mu} h \right) \tag{21}$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{A}^{0} = -\frac{1}{4} F^{\mu\nu} F_{\mu\nu} \,, \tag{22}$$

where \mathcal{L}_{h}^{0} , \mathcal{L}_{A}^{0} are the free graviton and photon Lagrangians in vacuum, respectively, and the second term in Eq. (20) contains the self-energies, Π , which are 1PI diagrams induced by the medium [82, 87, 88]. For example, the single-phonon contribution to Π_{hh} is given by the diagram,

$$\Pi_{hh}(Q): \quad h \xrightarrow{Q} h$$
(23)

where the internal double solid line indicates a phonon propagator, the vertex Feynman rule is determined by the interaction Hamiltonian in Eq. (7), and we have left indicies implicit for simplicity. The single-phonon contribution to the other self-energies, e.g., Π_{hA} , Π_{AA} , are analogous diagrams with the corresponding external h replaced with A.

The in-medium states are those which diagonalize the Lagrangian in Eq. (20), and can be separated into unmixed "graviton-like" (\hat{h}) and "photon-like" (\hat{A}) states, since the couplings between the graviton and photon are perturbatively induced via the medium. The absorption rate of an incoming vacuum graviton is then, approximately, given by the absorption rate of its graviton-like counterpart, which can be computed with the optical theorem,

$$\Gamma_{\lambda}(f,\hat{\mathbf{n}}) \approx \Gamma_{\hat{h}}^{\lambda}(f,\hat{\mathbf{n}}) = -\frac{1}{\omega} \operatorname{Im} \left[\Pi_{\hat{h}\hat{h}}^{\lambda}(f,\hat{\mathbf{n}}) \right] \,, \tag{24}$$

where $\Pi_{\hat{h}\hat{h}}(f, \hat{\mathbf{n}})$ is from the graviton-like term in the diagonalized Lagrangian, $\mathcal{L} \supset -\sum_{\lambda} \hat{h}_{\lambda} \Pi^{\lambda}_{\hat{h}\hat{h}} \hat{h}_{\lambda}/2$. To compute the absorption we must diagonalize Eq. (20) to find $\Pi^{\lambda}_{\hat{h}\hat{h}}(f, \hat{\mathbf{n}})$.

Gauge freedom allows for immediate simplification in both the photon and graviton sectors, reducing the degrees of freedom from 10 and 4 to 6 and 3 for the graviton and photon field, respectively. We are focused on computing the absorption rate of an incoming vacuum graviton. Since any polarization mixing introduced by the medium is gravitationally suppressed, we can reduce the graviton system to just the two vacuum graviton modes. Projecting the graviton field into the reduced polarization basis as $h_{ij} = e_{ij}^{\lambda} h_{\lambda}$, the Lagrangian in Eq. (20) simplifies to

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} h_{\lambda} & A_{\rho} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \left(\partial^{2} - \Pi_{hh}^{\lambda}\right) \delta^{\lambda\lambda'} & -\Pi_{hA}^{\lambda,\rho'} \\ -\Pi_{Ah}^{\rho,\lambda'} & \left(\partial^{2}\eta^{\rho\rho'} - \partial^{\rho}\partial^{\rho'}\right) - \Pi_{AA}^{\rho\rho'} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} h_{\lambda'} \\ A_{\rho'} \end{pmatrix}$$
(25)

where λ, λ' index the usual +, × graviton polarizations, and self-energies with polarization indices indicate projection onto the polarization vectors, e.g., $\Pi_{hh}^{\lambda} \equiv e_{ij}^{\lambda} \Pi_{hh}^{ij,i'j'} e_{i'j'}^{\lambda}$.

Moving to the photon sector, DM absorption calculations are typically performed in the Lorenz gauge, $\partial_{\mu}A^{\mu} = 0$. However, subtleties arise in computing the Feynman diagrams in Eq. (23) for graviton kinematics, $Q^2 = 0$, since the standard choice of the longitudinal polarization vector, $e_L^{\mu} = (\omega, \omega \hat{\mathbf{n}})/\sqrt{-Q^2}$, is singular. Therefore we work in the Coloumb gauge, $\partial^{4}A_{i} = 0$, where the polarization vectors are $e_L^{\mu} = (1, 0, 0, 0)$, $e_{\pm}^{\mu} = (0, \hat{\mathbf{n}}_{\pm})$, and $\hat{\mathbf{n}}_{\pm}$ are two vectors orthonormal to $\hat{\mathbf{n}}$. Projecting the photon field into these polarizations, $A_{\mu} = e_{\mu}^{\lambda}A_{\lambda}$, the Lagrangian in Eq. (25) becomes,

$$\mathcal{L} = -\frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} h_{\lambda} & A_{L} & A_{\sigma} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \left(-\partial^{2} + \Pi_{hh}^{\lambda} \right) \delta^{\lambda\lambda'} & \Pi_{hL}^{\lambda} & \Pi_{hA}^{\lambda\sigma'} \\ \Pi_{Lh}^{\lambda'} & -\omega^{2} + \Pi_{L} & \Pi_{LA}^{\sigma\sigma'} \\ \Pi_{Ah}^{\sigma\lambda'} & \Pi_{AL}^{\sigma} & -\partial^{2} \delta^{\sigma\sigma'} + \Pi_{AA}^{\sigma\sigma'} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} h_{\lambda'} \\ A_{L} \\ A_{\sigma'} \end{pmatrix},$$
(26)

where we have explicitly separated the longitudinal photon mode A_L from the transverse modes A_{σ} , where σ indexes transverse polarizations, \pm , and polarization indices represent projections onto polarizations. Projection on to the longitudinal mode is equivalent to projection on to \hat{n}^i by the Ward identity, $Q_{\mu}\Pi^{\mu\nu}_{AA} = 0$: $\Pi_L \equiv \Pi^{00}_{AA} = \hat{n}^i \Pi^{ij}_{AA} \hat{n}^j$, $\Pi^{0\sigma}_{AA} \equiv \Pi^{\sigma}_{LA} = \hat{n}^i \Pi^{ij}_{AA} e^{\sigma}_j$, and $\Pi^{\sigma0}_{AA} \equiv \Pi^{\sigma}_{AL} = e^{\sigma}_i \Pi^{ij}_{AA} \hat{n}^j$.

The Lagrangian in Eq. (26) can now be perturbatively diagonalized since the off-diagonal components mixing hand A are $\mathcal{O}(\sqrt{G})$, and therefore $\prod_{\hat{h}\hat{h}}^{\lambda}$ is given by,

$$\Pi_{\hat{h}\hat{h}}^{\lambda} \approx \Pi_{hh}^{\lambda} - \Pi_{hA}^{\lambda\alpha} \left[\Delta_{A}^{-1} \right]_{\alpha\alpha'} \Pi_{Ah}^{\alpha'\lambda} \tag{27}$$

$$\Delta_A^{\alpha\alpha'} \equiv \begin{pmatrix} -\omega^2 + \Pi_L & \Pi_{LA}^{\sigma'} \\ \Pi_{AL}^{\sigma} & Q^2 \delta^{\sigma\sigma'} + \Pi_{AA}^{\sigma\sigma'} \end{pmatrix},$$
(28)

where $\alpha, \alpha' \in \{L, \pm\}$ index all the photon polarizations, and the inverse in Eq. (27) represents the matrix inverse. Note that for an isotropic medium with $\Pi_{AL}^{\sigma} = \Pi_{LA}^{\sigma} = 0$, Δ_{AA} is diagonal, and the inverse in Eq. (27) is trivial. The absorption rate is therefore given by

$$\Gamma_{\lambda} = -\frac{1}{\omega} \operatorname{Im} \left[\Pi_{hh}^{\lambda} - \Pi_{hA}^{\lambda\alpha} \left[\Delta_{A}^{-1} \right]_{\alpha\alpha'} \Pi_{Ah}^{\alpha'\lambda} \right] \,. \tag{29}$$

To compute the self-energies in Eq. (29) we follow Ref. [82]. As mentioned earlier, these self-energies will generally receive contributions from both the phonons and electrons in the target. However, since our focus is on single-phonon excitations, some simplifications can be made. Notice that the dependence of the absorption rate, Γ_{λ} , on Π_{hh} is only through the imaginary part. Imaginary contributions to self-energies correspond to physical degrees of freedom going on-shell, and therefore below the electronic band gap, $\text{Im} [\Pi_{hh}]$ will only receive a contribution from phonon excitations. Furthermore, we expect the electronic contribution to Π_{hA} to be sub-dominant, since any GW-electron coupling will be suppressed by $m_e/m_j \sim 10^{-4}$ relative to the GW-ion coupling. Therefore when computing both Π_{hh} and Π_{hA} we include only the phonon contribution. Calculation of Π_{AA} is identical to that described in Ref. [82], and will include both electron and phonon contributions.

The single-phonon contribution to the self-energies can be written as [82]

$$\Pi_{\Phi\Phi'}(f, \hat{\mathbf{n}}) = -i \sum_{\nu} \frac{D_{\nu}(\omega)}{\Omega} \left(\sum_{j} \mathcal{F}_{\Phi, j} \cdot \mathbf{T}_{j\nu \mathbf{q}} \right) \left(\sum_{j} \mathcal{F}_{\Phi', j} \cdot \mathbf{T}_{j\nu \mathbf{q}} \right)^{*},$$
(30)

$$D_{\nu}(\omega) = \frac{2i\omega_{\nu}}{\omega^2 - \omega_{\nu}^2 + i\omega\gamma_{\nu}},\tag{31}$$

where $\Pi_{\Phi\Phi'}$ implicitly carries the Lorentz indices of the fields Φ and Φ' , D_{ν} is the phonon propagator, and $\mathcal{F}_{\Phi,j}$ is a form factor encapsulating the coupling of the j^{th} ion to the field Φ (and also carries an implicit Lorentz index). The photon form factor is simply the charge of a given ion, and the graviton form factor can be read off from the interaction Hamiltonian in Eq. (7),

$$F_{A,1}^{i,k} = e \omega Q_1 \delta^{ik}$$
, (32)

$$\mathcal{F}_{h,j}^{ai,\,k} = -\sqrt{4\pi G}\,\omega^2 \,m_j \,x_j^{0,a}\,\delta^{ik}\,, \tag{33}$$

where $Q_j = N_{p,j} - N_{e,j}$, and $N_{p(e),j}$ are the number of protons (electrons) at site j. Substituting Eqs. (32) and (33) into Eq. (30) gives

$$\Pi_{hh}^{ik,\,i'k'}(f,\hat{\mathbf{n}}) = -i\,4\pi G\,\omega^4 \sum_{\nu} \frac{D_{\nu}(\omega)}{\Omega} \left(\sum_{j} m_j \,x_j^{0,\,i} \,T_{j\nu\mathbf{q}}^k\right) \left(\sum_{j} m_j \,x_j^{0,\,i'} \,T_{j\nu\mathbf{q}}^{k'}\right)^*,\tag{34}$$

$$\Pi_{hA}^{ik,i'}(f,\hat{\mathbf{n}}) = i\sqrt{4\pi G} e \,\omega^3 \sum_{\nu} \frac{D_{\nu}(\omega)}{\Omega} \left(\sum_{j} m_j \, x_j^{0,i} \, T_{j\nu\mathbf{q}}^k\right) \left(\sum_{j} Q_j \, T_{j\nu\mathbf{q}}^{i'}\right)^*,\tag{35}$$

which can then be straightforwardly substituted into Eq. (29) to compute the absorption rate. Note that if the mixing is removed by setting $\Pi_{hA} = \Pi_{Ah} = 0$ (which can be accomplished by setting $Q_{j} = 0$ as for a non-polar target), and the phonon is assumed to be a perfect resonance, $\gamma \to 0$, then we recover the absorption rate previously derived from Fermi's Golden Rule in Sec. II B 1. The main effect of the mixing contribution to Eq.(29) is to slightly shift the resonance locations from their value in the limit of no mixing, i.e., ω_{ν} .

III. SENSITIVITY TO GRAVITATIONAL WAVES

With the calculation of the GW absorption rate in Sec. II, we can now determine the experimental sensitivity. In the context of DM direct detection, the sensitivity is governed by the number of phonons produced, $N_{\rm ph}$, over the observation time, T. Requiring that $N_{\rm ph} > 3$ is then directly converted to a 95% C.L. limit on the DM coupling parameters, assuming negligible backgrounds. While $N_{\rm ph}$ will still be the figure of merit here, the question of experimental sensitivity becomes more subtle for GW searches since the incoming GWs need not be coherent over T, nor have a monochromatic frequency spectrum. These two features are dramatically different than the signal due to absorption of non-relativistic DM, which occurs at frequencies equal to the DM mass and persists over the whole observation time. Due to the relativistic kinematics of the incoming GW, a closer analogy would be to a signal produced by a thermal cosmic axion background [101], or from DM produced in the Sun [102, 103]. Here, computing the number of phonons produced becomes intimately tied to the parameterization of the signal. Therefore for ease of comparison it is useful to create classes of signals with similar parameterizations. The sources of high-frequency GWs in this frequency range we focus on, for reasons discussed further in Sec. IV, may be referred to as *deterministic* signals, characterized by a known signal profile which may be parameterized as,⁵

$$h(t) = h_0(t) e^{2\pi i f_s(t) t}.$$
(36)

⁵ Deterministic signals may also contain information about direction from which they were emitted. This goes beyond our isotropic assumption in Eq. (10), and we leave further discussion for future work.

Stochastic sources, characterized by their power spectral density, are considered in App. A. In Eq. (36), $f_s(t)$ is the instantaneous signal frequency at time t, and $h_0(t)$ is the signal amplitude at time t. Assuming that f_s and h_0 are slowly-varying functions of time, the GW energy density for deterministic signals is

$$\rho_{\rm GW}(t) = \frac{\pi}{8G} f_s^2(t) \, h_0^2(t) \equiv \rho_{\rm GW}^0(f_s) \, h_0^2(t) \,, \tag{37}$$

where we have defined, $\rho_{GW}^0(f) \equiv (\pi/8)f^2/G$. The GW energy density parameter Ω_{GW} for deterministic signals is then given by

$$\Omega_{\rm GW}(f,t) = \frac{\rho_{\rm GW}^0(f)}{\rho_c} f h_0^2(t) \,\delta(f - f_s) \,. \tag{38}$$

Note that while $\Omega_{\rm GW}(f)$ is typically used in the context of stochastic GW signals, its use here can be understood as just a rewriting of the differential energy density, $d\rho_{\rm GW}/df$, given by Eq. (10); $\rho_{\rm GW}$ in Eq. (37) is related to $\Omega_{\rm GW}$ in Eq. (38) by $\rho_{\rm GW} = \int (d\rho_{\rm GW}/df) df = \rho_c \int \Omega_{\rm GW}(f) d\ln f$. The expected number of phonons produced during T is found by integrating the rate in Eq. (11), and multiplying by the detector mass, M,

$$N_{\rm ph} = M \int_0^T dt \int df \frac{1}{4\pi f} \frac{\rho_{\rm GW}^0(f)}{\rho_T} h_0^2(t) \,\Gamma(f) \,\delta(f - f_s(t)) \,. \tag{39}$$

While Eq. (39) is the underlying quantity which determines the sensitivity, comparing the response to different deterministic signals, for example those with different time dependence, is subtle. Ideally, the signal strength and detector sensitivity would be completely decoupled, such that if the signal strength is greater than the detector sensitivity, then the signal may be seen. This decomposition is most clear in the context of *monochromatic* signals, for which f_s is constant, and the amplitude is slowly varying. For these signals, we can define,

$$h_s^2 \equiv \frac{1}{T} \int_0^T h_0^2(t) \, dt \,, \tag{40}$$

$$h_{\rm det}^2(f) \equiv 3 \, \frac{4\pi f}{\rho_{\rm GW}^0 \, V \, T \, \Gamma(f)} \,, \tag{41}$$

where h_s characterizes the signal strength and h_{det} characterizes the detector sensitivity. This allows Eq. (39) to be written as

$$N_{\rm ph} = 3 \frac{h_s^2}{h_{\rm det}^2(f_s)} \,. \tag{42}$$

Therefore when $h_s^2 > h_{det}^2(f_s)$ the number of phonons produced is greater than 3, and limits on the signal can be set at the 95% C.L.

There is redundancy in our definitions of h_s and $h_{det}(f)$, since only their relative magnitude is important, and therefore great care should be taken to compare the sensitivity of different experiments which may differ in definitions of h_s and h_{det} . The definitions chosen here are useful because they do not only apply to detection via single-phonon excitations. For any direct detection experiment where the primary observable is some number of excitations, and the interaction of a GW with that excitation is $\Gamma(f)$, Eq. (41) can be used to define the detector sensitivity.

Another type of deterministic signal is a *chirp* signal, where $\dot{f}_s = df_s/dt$ is known. For these signals the time dependence in $h_0(t)$ can be traded for frequency dependence by solving for $f = f_s(t)$. Defining the signal strength in this case as

$$h_s^2(f) \equiv \frac{f}{\dot{f}T} h_0^2(f) = \frac{\tau_f}{T} h_0^2(f) \,, \tag{43}$$

where $\tau_f \equiv f_s/f_s$ is the signal coherence time, the number of phonons produced from this signal type is can then be calculated, using $dt = df/\dot{f}$, as

$$N_{\rm ph} = 3 \int \frac{h_s^2(f)}{h_{\rm det}^2(f)} \, d\ln f \,, \tag{44}$$

where h_{det} has the same definition as Eq. (41), and the frequency integral is performed over $f_s(0) \le f \le f_s(T)$. We see that if $h_s \gtrsim h_{det}$ over an e-fold in f, then the number of phonons generated will be larger than 3.

With Eq. (41), the detector sensitivity, h_{det} , can now be computed in a general target material. In this section we focus on nine targets that have been previously studied in the context of DM direct detection. GaAs and Al₂O₃ are being utilized in the TESSARACT experiment [83], specifically designed to search for DM-induced single-phonon excitations, and Si is used in SuperCDMS CPD [104] which is sensitive to secondary athermal phonons produced from a DM-induced event. Si and Ge have been used in other experiments, e.g., CDEX [105], DAMIC [106–110], EDELWEISS [111–113], SENSEI [114–116], and SuperCDMS [117–119], searching for DM-induced electronic excitations and nuclear recoils. NaI (DAMA/LIBRA [120], KIMS [121], ANAIS [122], SABRE [123], DM-Ice [124]), CsI (KIMS [125]), and CaWO₄ (CRESST [126–128]) have also been used as target material in nuclear recoil experiments. In addition to these we include two more speculative targets: SiO₂, shown to have strong phonon responses to absorption and scattering of dark photon DM [73, 74, 76, 80, 82], and diamond, which has been independently proposed to search for electronic excitations and nuclear recoils [72, 129].

While it is likely not all of these targets will be employed as single-phonon detectors, comparing the projected sensitivity for a variety of targets illustrates how they can complement each other. The number of gapped phonon modes, and their energy spectrum, varies across targets. For example, CsI has a single resonance at $\omega \sim 10 \text{ meV}$, diamond has one at $\omega \sim 175 \text{ meV}$, and CaWO₄ has many resonances between 8 meV and 110 meV. The total number of gapped modes is 3n - 3, where n is the number of atoms in the unit cell, and the energy of the lowest gapped mode correlates with the speed of sound, which varies across materials. The GW sensitivity will be peaked near these resonance frequencies, and therefore a judicious choice of targets is necessary to cover the broadest possible frequency range. See Ref. [73] for the phonon band structures for the targets considered here. Additionally, in contrast to the search for dark photon DM [68, 69, 77, 82], or axion DM in a background magnetic field [80, 81] the targets do *not* have to be polar, i.e., contain oppositely charged ions in the unit cell. This allows for targets like diamond, Si, and Ge to be used to search for GWs even though they are not useful in searching for specific benchmark sub-eV DM models, which instead must rely on multiphonon processes [77] at $\mathcal{O}(\text{meV})$ frequencies.

Understanding and mitigating backgrounds is crucial to the success of any direct detection experiment utilizing single-phonon excitations. The dominant irreducible background is from coherent solar neutrino scattering; the cosmic neutrino background is negligible. Solar neutrinos are expected to produce a background of phonons at a rate of $R \sim 10^{-2}/\text{meV/kg} \cdot \text{yr}$ between $1 \text{ meV} \lesssim \omega \lesssim 100 \text{ meV}$ [130, 131]. Other backgrounds are expected to be important, and in fact dominate current low threshold direct detection technology. Examples of such backgrounds are those induced by cosmic high energy particles [132], and from radiogenic sources in the detector or shielding [131], the latter generating a background of phonons at a rate of $R \sim 1 - 10/\text{meV/kg} \cdot \text{yr}$ with current levels of radio-purity. Improved shielding, active signal vetoing, and more radio-pure samples will be essential to reduce these backgrounds. Vibrational noise is unlikely to be important since any source frequency is far from the phonon resonances of interest here, and thermal noise will be Boltzmann suppressed.

In Fig. 1 we compare the detector sensitivity, h_{det} , of the nine target materials assuming a kg \cdot yr exposure and backgrounds at the irreducible level, $\lesssim 1/\text{kg} \cdot \text{yr}$, which are negligible. The phonon line widths are taken to be $\gamma_{\nu} = 10^{-2} \omega_{\nu}$, values which have been shown to reproduce the dielectric function reasonably well [82]. In addition



FIG. 1. Detector sensitivities, h_{det} , Eq. (41), for experiments utilizing gapped, single-phonon excitations in a variety of crystal targets, assuming negligible backgrounds and a kg \cdot yr exposure. The frequency, and number, of resonances are properties of the specific target. All line widths, γ_{ν} , Eq. (31), are taken to be $10^{-2}\omega_{\nu}$, where ω_{ν} is the phonon frequency. The projected sensitivity is cut off away from the peak resonances for visual simplicity, and to emphasize that the simplistic modelling of γ_{ν} discussed previously is unlikely to hold far from the resonances. Note that Si, Ge, and Diamond are non-polar, whereas the rest of the targets are polar. In addition to the detector sensitivity we show the signal strength, h_s , for three sources of high-frequency GWs, all assuming sources r = 1 AU away and T = 1 yr. Gray lines represent idealized, benchmark sources, computed with Eq. (46), which emit GWs with power $P_{\rm GW}$, and are coherent over the observation time, i.e., monochromatic sources with $h_s \approx h_0$ in Eq. (40). The red line, labelled "Superradiant Annihilation", is a monochromatic signal, from the annihilation of two bosons in a superradiant produced population around low-mass ($M \leq 10^{-7} M_{\odot}$) BHs. The signal strength is computed with Eq. (53), assuming the BH mass is maximal at each frequency; see Sec. IV A for more details. The blue lines, labelled "Black Hole Inspiral", are chirp signals from the inspiral of two low-mass ($M \leq 10^{-8} M_{\odot}$) BHs. The light blue dashed lines correspond to h_s in Eq. (55) for fixed BH mass, M. The solid line represents the high-frequency boundary of possible BH inspiral signal strengths; at each f, we choose the BH mass M in Eq. (55) whose $f_{\rm ISCO}(M) = f$.

to comparing the sensitivity of different targets, we also compare h_{det} to the signal strength, h_s , for the sources discussed in Sec. IV, all assumed to be r = 1 AU away. Gray lines are shown as benchmark lines and correspond to idealized, monochromatic sources which emit GW radiation from a single source isotropically with power P_{GW} over the observation time. The sensitivity could be further improved by increasing the detector volume, $h_{det} \propto 1/\sqrt{V}$, as well as finding targets with smaller phonon linewidths, γ_{ν} , since at the phonon peak, h_{det} is proportional to $\sqrt{\gamma_{\nu}}$.

In Fig. 2 we compare the sensitivity of single-phonon detectors to other high-frequency GW detectors in the MHz $\leq f \leq 100$ THz frequency range. The curve labelled "Phonons" is simply an outline of the sensitivities in Fig. 1. The detectors are compared in their ability to detect monochromatic GWs, coherent over all their observation times, with (time-independent) amplitude h_0 . Constraints from recasting limits from current experimental data



FIG. 2. Comparing the sensitivity of high-frequency GW detectors in the MHz $\leq f \leq 100$ THz range. The comparison between detectors is only meaningful for monochromatic signals with constant amplitude, i.e., those of the form $h(t) \sim h_0 e^{2\pi i f t}$, where h_0 is a constant. For these signals, if the h_0 produced from a source is greater than the detector sensitivity, then it may be detected. The gray lines correspond to example, benchmark, sources isotropically emitting GWs with power P_{GW} , at frequency f, and at a distance of r = 1 AU. h_0 is computed using Eq. (46). The solid red line labelled "Phonons" is an outline of the specific target sensitivities shown in Fig. 1, which assume T = 1 yr. The sensitivity of different microwave cavities from Ref. [61] (ADMX [133–135], CAPP [136], HAYSTAC [137], ORGAN [138], and SQMS [61]) is shown in teal. The sensitivity of the MAGO 2.0 proposal from Ref. [59] are shown in green. The sensitivities of DMRadio-GUT [139] and DMRadio-m³ [140], assuming a figure-8 pickup loop, have been combined, labelled "DMRadio", from Ref. [62] and are shown in orange. The sensitivity of atomic clocks are from Ref. [60] and shown in purple.

(ADMX [133–135], CAPP [136], HAYSTAC [137], ORGAN [138]) were taken directly from Ref. [61]. Projections for other experiments have been rescaled assuming a run time, T = 1 yr. This changes the projections for a future detector built in the SQMS Center at Fermilab [61], MAGO 2.0 [59], DMRadio (a combination of projections from DMRadio-GUT [139] and DMRadio-m³ [140] from Ref. [62] assuming figure-8 pickup loop), and the "realistic" setup for the atomic clock experiment from Ref. [60] by $\mathcal{O}(1)$ factors relative to their respective references. The sensitivity of other axion haloscopes, ABRACADABRA [141–143], ADMX SLIC [144], BASE [145], SHAFT [146], WISPLC [147], can be found in Ref. [62], and are too weak to appear in Fig. 2.

IV. SOURCES

The universe naturally provides a variety of GW sources. The Standard Model predicts GW production over a range of frequencies, from the inspiral of supermassive black hole binaries [148–152] at $f \sim nHz$, to populations of gravitons frozen in from the early universe at $f \sim THz$ [153–157]. Additionally, many theories beyond the Standard



FIG. 3. Comparison of the signal strength, h_s , from the inspiral of BHs with equal mass M ("Black Hole Inspiral", blue, Sec. IV B), and superradiant annihilation of bosons surrounding a BH of mass M ("Superradiant Annihilation", red, Sec. IV A) at different GW frequencies, ω . All lines assume the source is r = 1 AU away and T = 1 yr. The superradiant annihilation signal is computed with Eq. (53). The turnover occurs when the superradiant annihilation timescale, Eq. (51), is equal to the observation time, T, and the cutoff is from requiring $GM\omega < 0.8$, corresponding to the point where numerical simulations indicate a breakdown of our analytic approximations. The BH inspiral signal is shown at the different points in its frequency evolution and computed with Eq. (55). The cutoff occurs for BH masses too large to emit GWs at ω , i.e., their $\omega_{ISCO} < \omega$.

Model also predict GW production from inflation [158–163], inflaton annihilation into gravitons [164–166], phase transitions [167–177], preheating [178, 179], topological defects [180–182], noisy turbulent motion [183–187] and equilibriated gravitons [188, 189]; see Refs. [190–192] for reviews.

However, if these GWs are present before big-bang nucleosynthesis (BBN), they would contribute significantly to the radiation density of the universe, which is strongly constrained at that time [193]. The total amount of GW radiation present at BBN is restricted to be less than $\sim 2 \times 10^{-6}$ [46, 193] of the total energy density in the universe. This severely limits the amplitude of these GWs today, especially at the high frequencies we are concerned with here. The characteristic strain of these cosmological, stochastic GWs is given by [46, 194],

$$h_c(f) \equiv \sqrt{\frac{3H_0^2}{4\pi^2}} \frac{\Omega_{\rm GW}(f)}{f^2} \sim 10^{-33} \left(\frac{\rm THz}{f}\right) \left(\frac{\Omega_{\rm GW}(f)}{10^{-6}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}},\tag{45}$$

which, while not an exact "apples to apples" comparison (see App. A for more details), is many orders of magnitude smaller than the detector sensitivities shown in Fig. 2. To emphasize how un-detectable this is, note that the detector sensitivity in Eq. (41) scales as $L^{-3/2}$, where L is the length scale of the detector. A detector would need to be scaled to $L \sim 100$ km, while still maintaining zero background, to reach $h_c \sim 10^{-33}$ from its sensitivity of 10^{-24} at $L \sim 10$ cm. Therefore it will be challenging for detectors based on single-phonon sensitivity to detect these stochastic, early-universe GWs. GWs may also be produced on astrophysical scales, i.e., by processes occurring in the Milky Way. Independent of how the GWs are generated, the GW amplitude h_0 from any source emitting GWs isotropically with power P_{GW} at frequency ω and a distance r away is given by,

$$h_0 = \sqrt{\frac{8GP_{\rm GW}}{\omega^2 r^2}} \sim 10^{-24} \left(\frac{P_{\rm GW}}{10^{12} M_{\odot}/\rm{yr}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{1 \,\mathrm{meV}}{\omega}\right) \left(\frac{8 \,\mathrm{kpc}}{r}\right) \,. \tag{46}$$

Achieving a detectable strain at galactic distances requires an extraordinary amount of power. Said another way, if in one year the entire mass-energy of the Milky Way ($\sim 10^{12} M_{\odot}$) were converted to meV-frequency GWs at the galactic center (r = 8 kpc), the amplitude would be only slightly above the detector sensitivity.

Therefore it appears the only reasonable source of GWs must come from a source at sub-kpc scales. Normalizing Eq. (46) to AU distance scales, the required $P_{\rm GW}$ is much smaller,

$$h_0 \sim 10^{-24} \left(\frac{P_{\rm GW}}{10^{-6} M_{\odot}/{\rm yr}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{1 \,{\rm meV}}{\omega}\right) \left(\frac{1 \,{\rm AU}}{r}\right).$$
 (47)

This signal strength is shown as a gray line in Fig. 2, and is more emblematic of the benchmark signals that very high-frequency GW experiments may be sensitive to.⁶

We now consider two specific realizations of these deterministic signals: superradiant annihilation of bosons surrounding a BH (Sec. IV A), and BH inspiral (Sec. IV B). Their signal strengths, h_s , are shown in Fig. 3 as a function of the BH mass.

A. Superradiant Annihilation

Superradiance is the process where a rotating BH of mass M creates a high occupancy bosonic cloud of particles by losing mass and angular momentum [195–198]. The bosons that are produced occupy bound states around the BH, which are analogous to bound states in a hydrogen atom since the gravitational potential is approximately 1/rfar enough from the BH. The production rate of bosons in a given bound state depends on the number of bosons present, and is therefore exponentially enhanced until the BH is spinning too slowly for superradiance to occur. The maximum number of superradiantly produced bosons in the "n = 2, $\ell = m = 1$ " mode, to borrow the notation of atomic physics, is,

$$N_{\rm sr} = \Delta a_* \left(\frac{M}{M_{\rm pl}}\right)^2 \sim 10^{76} \times \Delta a_* \left(\frac{M}{M_{\odot}}\right)^2 \,. \tag{48}$$

where $M_{\rm pl} = 1.22 \times 10^{19} \,\text{GeV}$, and Δa_* is the difference in the BH spin parameter, $a_* = J \, (GM^2)^{-1}$, where J is the BH angular momentum, before and after superradiance occurs. These superradiantly produced bosons may then annihilate in to monochromatic GWs at frequencies $\omega = 2\mu$, where μ is the mass of the boson.⁷ For superradiance to occur, the BH must be spinning fast enough, $m\Omega_H > \mu$, where Ω_H is the angular velocity of the BH at the horizon. This is known as the "superradiance condition" and, when written in terms of the BH mass, requires $GM\omega < 1$ for the $\ell = 1$ mode. Therefore there is a maximum BH mass which can emit GWs at frequencies ω by superradiant annihilation, $M_{\rm max}^{\rm sr} = M_{\rm pl}^2/\omega \sim 10^{-7} M_{\odot} \,({\rm meV}/\omega)$.

⁶ Note that if compact objects of mass M constitute all of the local DM then the typical separation is $(\rho_{\rm DM}/M)^{-1/3} \sim 100 \,{\rm AU} \left(M/10^{-12} M_{\odot}\right)^{1/3}$, for $\rho_{\rm DM} = 0.4 \,{\rm GeV/cm^3}$. While the distance scale is much closer to AU scale of interest, the required masses are too small to generate meaningful GW signals.

⁷ Level transitions also produce GWs, although at a subdominant rate to annihilation, and therefore we focus on the annihilation process here.

Computing the annihilation rate of two bosons in any state is a difficult problem because the gravitational "fine structure constant", $\alpha \equiv GM\mu$, can be non-perturbatively large. Therefore while analytic solutions exist for $\alpha \ll 1$, one must resort to numerical relativity simulations [199–202] for $\alpha \lesssim 1/2$, near the edge of the superradiance condition. These simulations indicate that the maximum annihilation signal occurs for $0.25 \lesssim \alpha \lesssim 0.5$ [200, 201], depending on the spin of the boson and the initial a_* of the BH. For simplicity we adopt a semi-analytic approach to model the annihilation rate similar to Ref. [196], using the scaling relations from the perturbative regime, with an overall coefficient set by the numerical simulations, and restrict $\alpha < 0.4$. With this parameterization the annihilation rate of two bosons in the n = 2, $\ell = m = 1$ state is given by

$$\Gamma_{\rm sr,\,ann} = C_{\Gamma} M_{\rm pl} \left(2\alpha\right)^{15} \left(\frac{M_{\rm Pl}}{M}\right)^3 \sim \frac{10^{-54}}{\rm yr} \left(\frac{M}{10^{-7} M_{\odot}}\right)^{12} \left(\frac{\omega}{\rm meV}\right)^{15} \,, \tag{49}$$

and where the overall coefficient, $C_{\Gamma} \approx 10^{-10}$, is found from the numerical simulations in Ref. [200]. The total annihilation rate is further enhanced by the number of bosons in the cloud,

$$R_{\rm sr,\,ann} = N_{\rm sr}^2 \,\Gamma_{\rm sr,\,ann} \sim \frac{10^{70}}{\rm yr} \,\Delta a_*^2 \left(\frac{M}{10^{-7} \,M_\odot}\right)^{16} \left(\frac{\omega}{\rm meV}\right)^{15} \,, \tag{50}$$

where the $N_{\rm sr}^2$ factor is due to the fact that the GW is emitted via an annihilation process. This generates $P_{\rm GW} = \omega R_{\rm sr, ann}$ of power in outgoing GWs. The annihilation process continues until all the bosons have annihilated to GWs. The timescale for this to happen is also set by Eq. (50),

$$\tau_{\rm sr,\,ann} = \frac{N_{\rm sr}}{R_{\rm sr,\,ann}} \sim 10^{-8} \,\mathrm{yr} \,\frac{1}{\Delta a_*} \left(\frac{10^{-7} \,M_\odot}{M}\right)^{14} \left(\frac{\,\mathrm{meV}}{\omega}\right)^{15} \,. \tag{51}$$

The amplitude of the GWs emitted by superradiant annihilation is given by [196]

$$h_0^{\rm sr,ann}(t) = \sqrt{\frac{8G}{r^2\omega}R_{\rm sr,ann}}\frac{1}{1+t/\tau_{\rm sr,ann}},$$
 (52)

which can then be substituted in to the definition of the signal strength, h_s , for monochromatic signals given in Eq. (40). The signal strength has parametrically different behavior depending on whether the signal lasts over the entire observation time:

$$h_{s}^{\mathrm{sr,\,ann}} = \begin{cases} \sqrt{\frac{8G}{r^{2}\omega}R_{\mathrm{sr,\,ann}}} \sim 10^{-21}\,\Delta a_{*}\left(\frac{\mathrm{AU}}{r}\right)\left(\frac{M}{10^{-7}\,M_{\odot}}\right)^{8}\left(\frac{\omega}{\mathrm{meV}}\right)^{7} & \tau_{\mathrm{sr,\,ann}} \gg T \\ \sqrt{\frac{8G}{r^{2}\omega}R_{\mathrm{sr,\,ann}}}\sqrt{\frac{\tau_{\mathrm{sr,\,ann}}}{T}} \sim 10^{-25}\,\sqrt{\Delta a_{*}}\left(\frac{\mathrm{AU}}{r}\right)\left(\frac{\mathrm{yr}}{T}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}\left(\frac{M}{10^{-7}\,M_{\odot}}\right)\left(\frac{\mathrm{meV}}{\omega}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} & \tau_{\mathrm{sr,\,ann}} \ll T \,. \end{cases}$$
(53)

Eq. (53) is shown in Fig. 3 ("Superradiant Annihilation") as a function of BH mass, for different choices of signal frequency, assuming T = 1 yr. The maximum BH mass is set by $M_{\text{max}}^{\text{sr}}$. The turnover for each curve occurs when $\tau_{\text{sr, ann}} \sim T$. BH masses above the turnover have $\tau_{\text{sr, ann}} \ll T$, and those below have $\tau_{\text{sr, ann}} \gg T$. Lastly, we note that while it may seem beneficial to increase the annihilation rate, $\Gamma_{\text{sr, ann}}$ in Eq. (49), to increase h_s and GW power output, the timescale over which these GWs are emitted decreases, which hinders the signal. In fact, these competing effects exactly compensate each other. If the $\Gamma_{\text{sr, ann}}$ is increased enough to drive $\tau_{\text{sr, ann}} \ll T$, then h_s only depends on the combination $R_{\text{sr, ann}} \ll T$, is independent of $\Gamma_{\text{sr, ann}}$. Therefore the peak h_s , which occurs at large M when $\tau_{\text{sr, ann}} \ll T$, is independent of $\Gamma_{\text{sr, ann}}$.

B. Black Hole Inspiral

In addition to superradiant annihilation discussed in Sec. IV A, high-frequency GWs may also be produced from the inspiral of compact objects such as BHs, boson and fermion stars [203–206], gravitino stars [207], gravistars [208], and DM blobs [209]. For simplicity we will examine the most straightforward scenario, the GW emission from the inspiral of two BHs with equal mass, M, in a perfectly circular orbit [86]. To lose energy to GWs the orbital radius must decrease, drawing the BHs closer and thus increasing the frequency of the GWs produced. The minimum radius for which we can describe the inspiral as an adiabatically-changing circular orbit is, $R_{\rm ISCO} = 12GM$, where ISCO stands for "Innermost Stable Circular Orbit" (ISCO). Before the BHs reach the ISCO the GW frequency is given by, $\omega \sim 10 \text{ meV} (10^{-9} M_{\odot}/M) (R_{\rm ISCO}/R)^{3/2}$. Requiring that $R > R_{\rm ISCO}$ bounds $M\omega$ to be small. Therefore to reach a given ISCO frequency the BH mass must be less than $M_{\rm max}^{\rm bhi} \sim 10^{-8} M_{\odot}$ (meV/ $\omega_{\rm ISCO}$), where "bhi" is shorthand for Black Hole Inspiral. Similar to the superradiant annihilation signal discussed in Sec. IV A, generating high-frequency signals comes at the cost of smaller masses.

A crucial difference between the superradiant annihilation signal and BH inspiral is that while superradiant annihilation is monochromatic, the GW frequency from BH inspiral is changing. This signal is therefore a chirp signal according to the classification discussed previously. The timescale of frequency change is given by, $\tau_f^{\text{bhi}} = f/\dot{f} \sim 10^{-18} \text{ yr} \left(10^{-8} M_{\odot}/M\right)^{5/3} (\text{meV}/\omega)^{8/3}$, which, while relatively fast compared to the observation time, is still large enough compared to the phonon lifetime (assuming $\omega_{\nu}/\gamma_{\nu} \sim 100$) to justify treating the signal as deterministic. Moreover, since $\tau_f^{\text{bhi}} \ll T$ the minimum frequency, $\omega_{\min} = \omega(t = 0)$ will be much less than $\omega_{\max} = \omega_{\text{ISCO}}$, allowing us to approximate the signal bandwidth as $0 \lesssim \omega \lesssim \omega_{\text{ISCO}}$.

Within this bandwidth the GW amplitude is [86],

$$h_0^{\rm bhi} = \frac{2}{rM_{\rm pl}} \left(\frac{M}{M_{\rm pl}}\right)^{\frac{5}{3}} \left(\frac{\omega}{M_{\rm pl}}\right)^{\frac{2}{3}} \sim 10^{-17} \left(\frac{\rm AU}{r}\right) \left(\frac{M}{10^{-8}M_{\odot}}\right)^{\frac{5}{3}} \left(\frac{\omega}{\rm meV}\right)^{\frac{2}{3}},\tag{54}$$

which, while seemingly large, is penalized in its overall signal strength (h_s in Eq. (43)) by its small frequency coherence time, τ_f . The signal strength is given by

$$h_s^{\rm bhi} = \sqrt{\frac{\tau_f^{\rm bhi}}{T}} h_0^{\rm bhi} \sim 10^{-26} \left(\frac{\rm AU}{r}\right) \left(\frac{\rm yr}{T}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{M}{10^{-8} M_{\odot}}\right)^{\frac{5}{6}} \left(\frac{\rm meV}{\omega}\right)^{\frac{2}{3}},\tag{55}$$

and shown in Fig. 3 (labelled "Black Hole Inspiral") as a function of BH mass for different choices of ω assuming T = 1 yr.

V. CONCLUSION

Single-phonon excitations, with energies in the O(1-100) meV range, have been shown to be exceptionally sensitive to light DM [67–71, 73, 74, 76, 77, 80–82]. Here we show that this sensitivity extends to high-frequency GWs in the 10^{12} Hz $\leq f \leq 10^{14}$ Hz range. In Sec. II we derived the forces acting on a lattice of point masses due to an incoming GW, and then used this to derive the GW-single phonon interaction Hamiltonian given in Eq. (6). We then used this interaction to derive the absorption rate in non-polar, Sec. II B1, and polar, Sec. II B2, crystal targets. An important difference between signals generated by absorption of light DM and GWs is that the GW signal may not be monochromatic or coherent over the observation time. This introduces subtleties in characterizing the detector sensitivity relative to the signal strength. In Sec. III we define the detector sensitivity, h_{det} , and signal strength, h_s , for

20

the deterministic (as opposed to stochastic) signals of interest here. Most of the discussion readily generalizes to other direct detection experiments, making the definitions of h_{det} and h_s useful outside the context of just single-phonon excitations. We then computed the GW absorption rate into single-phonon excitations from first principles in nine targets: GaAs, Al₂O₃, SiO₂, Si, Ge, Diamond, NaI, CsI, CaWO₄, which have been well studied as targets in DM direct detection experiments. In Fig. 1 we show the corresponding detector sensitivity for each individual target, and in Fig. 2 we compare the detector sensitivities to other high-frequency GW experiments in the $10^6 \text{ Hz} \leq f \leq 10^{14} \text{ Hz}$ frequency range. The diversity of targets highlights how a combination of targets may be used to provide broadband coverage in GW frequency space.

In Sec. IV we studied potential sources of these high-frequency GWs. GWs from the early universe are far too weak to be detectable with single-phonon detection, and an extraordinary amount of power must be emitted in GWs at O(kpc) distances to be measurable. Therefore it seems any viable source must be within the local solar system, at O(AU) distances. As examples of sources, we studied superradiant annihilation, Sec. IV A, and BH inspiral, Sec. IV B, and illustrated their relative signal strength in Fig. 3. In addition to these specific examples, in Figs. 1 and 2 we show the signal strength corresponding to *any* source emitting monochromatic, coherent, GWs with power P_{GW} . These serve as useful benchmarks since they provide both a physically motivated comparison between experiments, and a target for future studies of high-frequency GW sources.

While our focus has been on single-phonon excitations in crystal targets, there are other ways GWs may interact with phonons. For single-phonon excitations, the lowest accessible frequency is set by the energy of the lowest gapped mode. However gapless, acoustic phonon modes have even smaller energies. These can be utilized in multi-phonon processes in both crystal [210], and liquid [211, 212] targets where the incoming GW is kinematically matched to two phonons. It may also be interesting to utilize photon read out strategies as studied in Ref. [213]. Furthermore, future research studying the details of different GW signals are important for differentiation from a DM induced signal.

The introduction of external electromagnetic fields may also be advantageous. The same inverse Gertsenshtein effect which the axion DM experiments are utilizing may also be an avenue to excite phonons in crystal targets or optomechanical experiments [214, 215]. Indeed, if an incoming GW converts to an electromagnetic field, that electromagnetic field can then excite optical phonon modes in polar materials, analogous to axion absorption on phonons in magnetized media [80, 81]. However in the crystal targets of interest here, the rate seems to be parameterically suppressed. The effective coupling parameter is h_0B_0 , where B_0 is the external magnetic field. When compared to the axion DM coupling, $g_{a\gamma\gamma}\sqrt{\rho_{\rm DM}}B_0/m_a$, this corresponds to $h_0 \sim g_{a\gamma\gamma}\sqrt{\rho_{\rm DM}}/m_a \sim 10^{-22} g_{a\gamma\gamma}/(10^{-12} \,{\rm GeV}^{-1})$ at $\omega \approx m_a = 10 \,{\rm meV}$, leading to much worse detector sensitivity than shown here.

We have shown that DM direct detection experiments utilizing single-phonon excitations can be powerful probes of high-frequency GWs in the THz $\leq f \leq 100$ THz frequency range. More broadly this suggests a connection between DM direct detection and high-frequency GW detection beyond axion experiments. This is important since the understanding of high-frequency GW sources is still emerging, and therefore multi-purpose DM-GW experiments present the best opportunity to explore the high frequency frontier. Furthermore, demonstrating sensitivity with multi-purpose DM-GW experiments motivates further research of GW sources which populate the high frequency landscape.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank Asher Berlin, Diego Blas, Valerie Domcke, Sebastian A. R. Ellis, Dan Hooper, Gordan Krnjaic, and Alex Millar for helpful discussions. The work of Y. Kahn and J. Schütte-Engel was supported in part by DOE grant DE-SC0015655. J. Schütte-Engel acknowledges support from the RIKEN-Berkeley Center and from the National Science Foundation under cooperative agreement 2020275. TT's contribution to this work is supported by the Fermi Research Alliance, LLC under Contract No. DE-AC02-07CH11359 with the U.S. Department of Energy, Office of Science, Office of High Energy Physics.



FIG. 4. Overview of the constraints on the dimensionless strain, h_c , of stochastic GWs with frequency, MHz $\lesssim f \lesssim 10$ PHz. The solid red line labelled "Phonons" is an outline of the detector sensitivities, h_{det} , shown in Fig. 1, assuming a kg \cdot yr exposure and negligible backgrounds. Experimental constraints are shown in shaded regions, while projections are shown as dashed lines. Constraints from the Holometer experiment (light blue) are from Ref. [55], and those from bulk acoustic wave experiments (brown, labelled "BAW") are from Ref. [52]. Constraints recast from the "light shining through wall" experiments ALPS I [63] and OSQAR 2 [65] (purple) are from Ref. [66], and projections for future versions of IAXO utilizing HET and SPD detectors [155] (light red, labelled "IAXO_{HET+SPD}") are from Ref. [155]. Projections for the MAGO 2.0 experiment are from Ref. [59] (teal). Projections utilizing systems of Rydberg atoms (blue) are from Ref. [216]. Projections using a global network of electromagnetic cavities (dark orange, labelled "GravNet") are from Ref. [217]. Constraints from the EDGES [218] and ARCADE 2 [219] telescopes searching for the Gertsenshtein effect on CMB photons during the dark ages (dotted dark blue) are from Ref. [220], and assume optimistically large cosmic magnetic field strengths that saturate current CMB bounds. The dark green lines labelled "Telescopes" correspond to constraints from many telescopes searching for photons converted by conservative (solid) and optimistic (dotted) values of the magnetic field in the intergalactic medium [221]. Additional telescopic constraints due to the Gertsenshtein effect in a variety of astrophysical magnetic fields, which generally lie within the range of the dotted and solid green lines, can be found in Refs. [221–223]. The gray shaded region labelled " ΔN_{eff} " indicates the region bounded by a combination of BBN and CMB measurements on ΔN_{eff} [46, 193].

Appendix A: Sensitivity to Stochastic Gravitational Waves

Having already discussed potential sources of stochastic high-frequency GWs in Sec. IV, here we focus on computing the projected constraints, and compare them to other proposals and existing constraints in Fig. 4. Stochastic GWs may be parameterized by either their energy density parameter, $\Omega_{GW}(f)$, or dimensionless, characteristic strain, h_c , related by Eq. (45). Assuming that $\Omega_{GW}(f)$ is independent of time, after multiplying Eq. (11) by the detector mass and observation time, the number of phonons produced can be written in terms of the detector sensitivity, $h_{det}(f)$ from Eq. (41), as,

$$N_{\rm ph} = 3 \times 4 \int \frac{h_c^2(f)}{h_{\rm det}^2(f)} d\ln f \,. \tag{A1}$$

Therefore, similar to the number of phonons produced from a chirp signal, Eq. (44), if $h_c(f)^2 \gtrsim h_{det}^2(f)$ over an e-fold in frequency, the stochastic signal will generate $\mathcal{O}(1)$ phonons. In Fig. 4 we compare an outline of the h_{det} shown in Fig. 1, labelled "Phonons", assuming a kg \cdot yr exposure and negligible backgrounds, to a variety of other experiments. See the caption of Fig. 4 for specific references.

In addition to the lines labelled "EDGES/ARCADE", which are looking cosmic microwave background (CMB) photons perturbed by the Gertsenshtein effect during the dark ages [220], and the line labelled "Telescopes", which corresponds to constraints from a collection of telescopes on photons produced by the Gertsenshtein effect in the intergalactic medium [221], there are other constraints from telescopes. For example, Ref. [221] also considers photons converting in the Earth's magnetic field, and in the galactic magnetic field, Ref. [222] considers excess photons converted from magnetic fields within pulsars, and Ref. [223] considers photon conversion in planetary magnetospheres. However the constraints not shown generally fall within the range of the dotted and solid green line ("Telescopes") shown in Fig. 4, and are therefore omitted to avoid clutter. Furthermore, contrary to Fig. 2, constraints from other references are not rescaled, and taken directly from their respective source.

- [1] R. A. Hulse and J. H. Taylor, "Discovery of a pulsar in a binary system," Astrophys. J. Lett. 195 (1975) L51-L53.
- [2] J. H. Taylor and J. M. Weisberg, "Further experimental tests of relativistic gravity using the binary pulsar PSR 1913+16," Astrophys. J. 345 (1989) 434-450.
- [3] LIGO Scientific, Virgo Collaboration, B. P. Abbott et al., "Observation of Gravitational Waves from a Binary Black Hole Merger," Phys. Rev. Lett. 116 no. 6, (2016) 061102, arXiv:1602.03837 [gr-qc].
- [4] NANOGrav Collaboration, G. Agazie et al., "The NANOGrav 15 yr Data Set: Evidence for a Gravitational-wave Background," Astrophys. J. Lett. 951 no. 1, (2023) L8, arXiv:2306.16213 [astro-ph.HE].
- [5] NANOGrav Collaboration, A. Afzal et al., "The NANOGrav 15 yr Data Set: Search for Signals from New Physics," Astrophys. J. Lett. 951 no. 1, (2023) L11, arXiv:2306.16219 [astro-ph.HE].
- [6] NANOGrav Collaboration, G. Agazie et al., "The NANOGrav 15-year Data Set: Constraints on Supermassive Black Hole Binaries from the Gravitational Wave Background," arXiv: 2306.16220 [astro-ph.HE].
- [7] LIGO Scientific Collaboration, G. M. Harry, "Advanced LIGO: The next generation of gravitational wave detectors," *Class. Quant. Grav.* 27 (2010) 084006.
- [8] LIGO Scientific Collaboration, J. Aasi et al., "Advanced LIGO," Class. Quant. Grav. 32 (2015) 074001, arXiv:1411.4547 [gr-qc].
- [9] VIRGO Collaboration, F. Acernese et al., "Advanced Virgo: a second-generation interferometric gravitational wave detector," Class. Quant. Grav. 32 no. 2, (2015) 024001, arXiv:1408.3978 [gr-qc].

- [10] KAGRA Collaboration, K. Somiya, "Detector configuration of KAGRA: The Japanese cryogenic gravitational-wave detector," Class. Quant. Grav. 29 (2012) 124007, arXiv:1111.7185 [gr-qc].
- [11] KAGRA Collaboration, Y. Aso, Y. Michimura, K. Somiya, M. Ando, O. Miyakawa, T. Sekiguchi, D. Tatsumi, and H. Yamamoto, "Interferometer design of the KAGRA gravitational wave detector," *Phys. Rev. D* 88 no. 4, (2013) 043007, arXiv:1306.6747 [gr-qc].
- [12] KAGRA Collaboration, T. Akutsu et al., "KAGRA: 2.5 Generation Interferometric Gravitational Wave Detector," Nature Astron. 3 no. 1, (2019) 35-40, arXiv:1811.08079 [gr-qc].
- [13] Y. Michimura et al., "Prospects for improving the sensitivity of KAGRA gravitational wave detector," in 15th Marcel Grossmann Meeting on Recent Developments in Theoretical and Experimental General Relativity, Astrophysics, and Relativistic Field Theories. 6, 2019. arXiv:1906.02866 [gr-qc].
- [14] KAGRA Collaboration, T. Akutsu et al., "First cryogenic test operation of underground km-scale gravitational-wave observatory KAGRA," Class. Quant. Grav. 36 no. 16, (2019) 165008, arXiv:1901.03569 [astro-ph.IM].
- [15] LIGO Scientific Collaboration, B. P. Abbott et al., "Exploring the Sensitivity of Next Generation Gravitational Wave Detectors," Class. Quant. Grav. 34 no. 4, (2017) 044001, arXiv:1607.08697 [astro-ph.IM].
- [16] D. Reitze et al., "Cosmic Explorer: The U.S. Contribution to Gravitational-Wave Astronomy beyond LIGO," Bull. Am. Astron. Soc. 51 no. 7, (2019) 035, arXiv:1907.04833 [astro-ph.IM].
- [17] M. Punturo et al., "The Einstein Telescope: A third-generation gravitational wave observatory," Class. Quant. Grav. 27 (2010) 194002.
- [18] S. Hild et al., "Sensitivity Studies for Third-Generation Gravitational Wave Observatories," Class. Quant. Grav. 28 (2011) 094013, arXiv:1012.0908 [gr-qc].
- [19] B. Sathyaprakash et al., "Scientific Objectives of Einstein Telescope," Class. Quant. Grav. 29 (2012) 124013, arXiv:1206.0331 [gr-qc]. [Erratum: Class.Quant.Grav. 30, 079501 (2013)].
- [20] M. Maggiore et al., "Science Case for the Einstein Telescope," JCAP 03 (2020) 050, arXiv:1912.02622 [astro-ph.CO].
- [21] V. Corbin and N. J. Cornish, "Detecting the cosmic gravitational wave background with the big bang observer," Class. Quant. Grav. 23 (2006) 2435-2446, arXiv:gr-qc/0512039.
- [22] J. Crowder and N. J. Cornish, "Beyond LISA: Exploring future gravitational wave missions," *Phys. Rev. D* 72 (2005) 083005, arXiv:gr-qc/0506015.
- [23] G. M. Harry, P. Fritschel, D. A. Shaddock, W. Folkner, and E. S. Phinney, "Laser interferometry for the big bang observer," *Class. Quant. Grav.* 23 (2006) 4887–4894. [Erratum: Class.Quant.Grav. 23, 7361 (2006)].
- [24] N. Seto, S. Kawamura, and T. Nakamura, "Possibility of direct measurement of the acceleration of the universe using 0.1-Hz band laser interferometer gravitational wave antenna in space," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 87 (2001) 221103, arXiv:astro-ph/0108011.
- [25] S. Kawamura et al., "The Japanese space gravitational wave antenna DECIGO," Class. Quant. Grav. 23 (2006) S125–S132.
- [26] K. Yagi and N. Seto, "Detector configuration of DECIGO/BBO and identification of cosmological neutron-star binaries," Phys. Rev. D 83 (2011) 044011, arXiv:1101.3940 [astro-ph.CO]. [Erratum: Phys.Rev.D 95, 109901 (2017)].
- [27] LISA Collaboration, P. Amaro-Seoane et al., "Laser Interferometer Space Antenna," arXiv:1702.00786 [astro-ph.IM].
- [28] J. Baker et al., "The Laser Interferometer Space Antenna: Unveiling the Millihertz Gravitational Wave Sky," arXiv:1907.06482 [astro-ph.IM].
- [29] L. Badurina et al., "AION: An Atom Interferometer Observatory and Network," JCAP 05 (2020) 011, arXiv:1911.11755 [astro-ph.CO].
- [30] MAGIS-100 Collaboration, M. Abe et al., "Matter-wave Atomic Gradiometer Interferometric Sensor (MAGIS-100)," Quantum Sci. Technol. 6 no. 4, (2021) 044003, arXiv:2104.02835 [physics.atom-ph].
- [31] M. Kramer and D. J. Champion, "The European Pulsar Timing Array and the Large European Array for Pulsars," Class. Quant. Grav. 30 (2013) 224009.

- [32] S. Babak et al., "European Pulsar Timing Array Limits on Continuous Gravitational Waves from Individual Supermassive Black Hole Binaries," Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 455 no. 2, (2016) 1665-1679, arXiv:1509.02165 [astro-ph.CO].
- [33] L. Lentati et al., "European Pulsar Timing Array Limits On An Isotropic Stochastic Gravitational-Wave Background," Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 453 no. 3, (2015) 2576-2598, arXiv:1504.03692 [astro-ph.CO].
- [34] M. A. McLaughlin, "The North American Nanohertz Observatory for Gravitational Waves," Class. Quant. Grav. 30 (2013) 224008, arXiv:1310.0758 [astro-ph.IM].
- [35] NANOGRAV Collaboration, Z. Arzoumanian et al., "The NANOGrav 11-year Data Set: Pulsar-timing Constraints On The Stochastic Gravitational-wave Background," Astrophys. J. 859 no. 1, (2018) 47, arXiv:1801.02617 [astro-ph.HE].
- [36] K. Aggarwal et al., "The NANOGrav 11-Year Data Set: Limits on Gravitational Waves from Individual Supermassive Black Hole Binaries," Astrophys. J. 880 (2019) 2, arXiv:1812.11585 [astro-ph.GA].
- [37] A. Brazier et al., "The NANOGrav Program for Gravitational Waves and Fundamental Physics," arXiv:1908.05356 [astro-ph.IM].
- [38] R. M. Shannon et al., "Gravitational waves from binary supermassive black holes missing in pulsar observations," Science 349 no. 6255, (2015) 1522-1525, arXiv:1509.07320 [astro-ph.CO].
- [39] R. N. Manchester et al., "The Parkes Pulsar Timing Array Project," Publ. Astron. Soc. Austral. 30 (2013) 17, arXiv:1210.6130 [astro-ph.IM].
- [40] G. Hobbs et al., "The international pulsar timing array project: using pulsars as a gravitational wave detector," Class. Quant. Grav. 27 (2010) 084013, arXiv:0911.5206 [astro-ph.SR].
- [41] R. N. Manchester, "The International Pulsar Timing Array," Class. Quant. Grav. 30 (2013) 224010, arXiv:1309.7392 [astro-ph.IM].
- [42] J. P. W. Verbiest et al., "The International Pulsar Timing Array: First Data Release," Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 458 no. 2, (2016) 1267-1288, arXiv:1602.03640 [astro-ph.IM].
- [43] J. S. Hazboun, C. M. F. Mingarelli, and K. Lee, "The Second International Pulsar Timing Array Mock Data Challenge," arXiv:1810.10527 [astro-ph.IM].
- [44] M. A. Fedderke, P. W. Graham, and S. Rajendran, "Asteroids for μHz gravitational-wave detection," *Phys. Rev. D* 105 no. 10, (2022) 103018, arXiv:2112.11431 [gr-qc].
- [45] D. Blas and A. C. Jenkins, "Bridging the μHz Gap in the Gravitational-Wave Landscape with Binary Resonances," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **128** no. 10, (2022) 101103, arXiv:2107.04601 [astro-ph.C0].
- [46] N. Aggarwal et al., "Challenges and opportunities of gravitational-wave searches at MHz to GHz frequencies," Living Rev. Rel. 24 no. 1, (2021) 4, arXiv: 2011.12414 [gr-qc].
- [47] V. Domcke, "Electromagnetic high-frequency gravitational wave detection," in 57th Rencontres de Moriond on Electroweak Interactions and Unified Theories. 6, 2023. arXiv:2306.04496 [gr-qc].
- [48] N. Aggarwal, G. P. Winstone, M. Teo, M. Baryakhtar, S. L. Larson, V. Kalogera, and A. A. Geraci, "Searching for New Physics with a Levitated-Sensor-Based Gravitational-Wave Detector," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **128** no. 11, (2022) 111101, arXiv:2010.13157 [gr-qc].
- [49] Y. Gao, H. Zhang, and W. Xu, "A Mössbauer Scheme to Probe Gravitational Waves," arXiv:2310.06607 [gr-qc].
- [50] M. Goryachev and M. E. Tobar, "Gravitational Wave Detection with High Frequency Phonon Trapping Acoustic Cavities," *Phys. Rev. D* 90 no. 10, (2014) 102005, arXiv:1410.2334 [gr-qc].
- [51] M. Goryachev, E. N. Ivanov, F. van Kann, S. Galliou, and M. E. Tobar, "Observation of the Fundamental Nyquist Noise Limit in an Ultra-High Q-Factor Cryogenic Bulk Acoustic Wave Cavity," Appl. Phys. Lett. 105 (2014) 153505, arXiv:1410.4293 [physics.ins-det].
- [52] M. Goryachev, W. M. Campbell, I. S. Heng, S. Galliou, E. N. Ivanov, and M. E. Tobar, "Rare Events Detected with a Bulk Acoustic Wave High Frequency Gravitational Wave Antenna," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **127** no. 7, (2021) 071102, arXiv:2102.05859 [gr-qc].

- [53] A. Nishizawa et al., "Laser-interferometric Detectors for Gravitational Wave Background at 100 MHz: Detector Design and Sensitivity," Phys. Rev. D 77 (2008) 022002, arXiv:0710.1944 [gr-qc].
- [54] T. Akutsu et al., "Search for a stochastic background of 100-MHz gravitational waves with laser interferometers," Phys. Rev. Lett. 101 (2008) 101101, arXiv:0803.4094 [gr-qc].
- [55] Holometer Collaboration, A. S. Chou et al., "MHz Gravitational Wave Constraints with Decameter Michelson Interferometers," Phys. Rev. D 95 no. 6, (2017) 063002, arXiv:1611.05560 [astro-ph.IM].
- [56] M. Bailes et al., "Ground-Based Gravitational-Wave Astronomy in Australia: 2019 White Paper," arXiv:1912.06305 [astro-ph.IM].
- [57] K. Ackley et al., "Neutron Star Extreme Matter Observatory: A kilohertz-band gravitational-wave detector in the global network," Publ. Astron. Soc. Austral. 37 (2020) e047, arXiv:2007.03128 [astro-ph.HE].
- [58] A. Ito, T. Ikeda, K. Miuchi, and J. Soda, "Probing GHz gravitational waves with graviton-magnon resonance," Eur. Phys. J. C 80 no. 3, (2020) 179, arXiv:1903.04843 [gr-qc].
- [59] A. Berlin, D. Blas, R. Tito D'Agnolo, S. A. R. Ellis, R. Harnik, Y. Kahn, J. Schütte-Engel, and M. Wentzel, "Electromagnetic cavities as mechanical bars for gravitational waves," *Phys. Rev. D* 108 no. 8, (2023) 084058, arXiv:2303.01518 [hep-ph].
- [60] T. Bringmann, V. Domcke, E. Fuchs, and J. Kopp, "High-Frequency Gravitational Wave Detection via Optical Frequency Modulation," arXiv:2304.10579 [hep-ph].
- [61] A. Berlin, D. Blas, R. Tito D'Agnolo, S. A. R. Ellis, R. Harnik, Y. Kahn, and J. Schütte-Engel, "Detecting high-frequency gravitational waves with microwave cavities," *Phys. Rev. D* 105 no. 11, (2022) 116011, arXiv:2112.11465 [hep-ph].
- [62] V. Domcke, C. Garcia-Cely, S. M. Lee, and N. L. Rodd, "Symmetries and Selection Rules: Optimising Axion Haloscopes for Gravitational Wave Searches," arXiv:2306.03125 [hep-ph].
- [63] K. Ehret et al., "New ALPS Results on Hidden-Sector Lightweights," Phys. Lett. B 689 (2010) 149-155, arXiv:1004.1313 [hep-ex].
- [64] CAST Collaboration, V. Anastassopoulos et al., "New CAST Limit on the Axion-Photon Interaction," Nature Phys. 13 (2017) 584-590, arXiv:1705.02290 [hep-ex].
- [65] OSQAR Collaboration, R. Ballou et al., "New exclusion limits on scalar and pseudoscalar axionlike particles from light shining through a wall," Phys. Rev. D 92 no. 9, (2015) 092002, arXiv:1506.08082 [hep-ex].
- [66] A. Ejlli, D. Ejlli, A. M. Cruise, G. Pisano, and H. Grote, "Upper limits on the amplitude of ultra-high-frequency gravitational waves from graviton to photon conversion," *Eur. Phys. J. C* 79 no. 12, (2019) 1032, arXiv:1908.00232 [gr-qc].
- [67] K. Schutz and K. M. Zurek, "Detectability of Light Dark Matter with Superfluid Helium," Phys. Rev. Lett. 117 no. 12, (2016) 121302, arXiv:1604.08206 [hep-ph].
- [68] S. Knapen, T. Lin, M. Pyle, and K. M. Zurek, "Detection of light dark matter with optical phonons in polar materials," *Physics Letters B* 785 (Oct, 2017) 386-390, arXiv:1712.06598 [hep-ph].
- [69] S. Griffin, S. Knapen, T. Lin, and K. M. Zurek, "Directional detection of light dark matter with polar materials," *Phys. Rev. D 98*, 115034 (2018) 98 no. 11, (Dec, 2018) 115034, arXiv:1807.10291 [hep-ph].
- [70] T. Trickle, Z. Zhang, K. M. Zurek, K. Inzani, and S. M. Griffin, "Multi-channel direct detection of light dark matter: Theoretical framework," *JHEP*, 2020, Article number: 36 (2020) 2020 no. 3, (Mar, 2019) 036, arXiv:1910.08092 [hep-ph].
- [71] P. Cox, T. Melia, and S. Rajendran, "Dark matter phonon coupling," Phys. Rev. D 100 no. 5, (2019) 055011, arXiv:1905.05575 [hep-ph].
- [72] N. A. Kurinsky, T. C. Yu, Y. Hochberg, and B. Cabrera, "Diamond Detectors for Direct Detection of Sub-GeV Dark Matter," Phys. Rev. D 99 no. 12, (2019) 123005, arXiv:1901.07569 [hep-ex].
- [73] S. M. Griffin, K. Inzani, T. Trickle, Z. Zhang, and K. M. Zurek, "Multichannel direct detection of light dark matter: Target comparison," *Phys. Rev. D* 101 no. 5, (2020) 055004, arXiv:1910.10716 [hep-ph].

- [74] T. Trickle, Z. Zhang, and K. M. Zurek, "Effective field theory of dark matter direct detection with collective excitations," *Phys. Rev. D* 105 no. 1, (Sept., 2020) 015001, arXiv:2009.13534 [hep-ph].
- [75] S. M. Griffin, Y. Hochberg, K. Inzani, N. Kurinsky, T. Lin, and T. Chin, "Silicon carbide detectors for sub-GeV dark matter," Phys. Rev. D 103 no. 7, (2021) 075002, arXiv:2008.08560 [hep-ph].
- [76] A. Coskuner, T. Trickle, Z. Zhang, and K. M. Zurek, "Directional detectability of dark matter with single phonon excitations: Target comparison," *Phys. Rev. D* 105 no. 1, (2022) 015010, arXiv:2102.09567 [hep-ph].
- [77] S. Knapen, J. Kozaczuk, and T. Lin, "Darkelf: A python package for dark matter scattering in dielectric targets," *Physical Review D* 105 no. 1, (Jan, 2021) 015014, arXiv:2104.12786 [hep-ph].
- [78] N. Taufertshöfer, M. Garcia-Sciveres, and S. M. Griffin, "Broad-range directional detection of light dark matter in cryogenic ice," arXiv:2301.04778 [hep-ph].
- [79] C. P. Romao, R. Catena, N. A. Spaldin, and M. Matas, "Chiral phonons as dark matter detectors," arXiv:2301.07617 [hep-ph].
- [80] A. Mitridate, T. Trickle, Z. Zhang, and K. M. Zurek, "Detectability of axion dark matter with phonon polaritons and magnons," *Phys. Rev. D* 102, 095005 (2020) 102 no. 9, (Nov, 2020) 095005, arXiv: 2005.10256 [hep-ph].
- [81] A. Berlin and T. Trickle, "Absorption of Axion Dark Matter in a Magnetized Medium," arXiv:2305.05681 [hep-ph].
- [82] A. Mitridate, K. Pardo, T. Trickle, and K. M. Zurek, "Effective Field Theory for Dark Matter Absorption on Single Phonons," arXiv:2308.06314 [hep-ph].
- [83] C. Chang et al., "Snowmass 2021 letter of interest: The tessaract dark matter project," 2020. "".
- [84] J. Weber, "Detection and Generation of Gravitational Waves," Phys. Rev. 117 (1960) 306–313.
- [85] L. D. Landau and E. M. Lifshitz, Theory of Elasticity, vol. 7 of Course of Theoretical Physics. Elsevier Butterworth-Heinemann, New York, 1986.
- [86] M. Maggiore, Gravitational Waves: Volume 1: Theory and Experiments Volume 1. Oxford University Press, USA, 2007.
- [87] E. Hardy and R. Lasenby, "Stellar cooling bounds on new light particles: plasma mixing effects," JHEP 02 (2017) 033, arXiv:1611.05852 [hep-ph].
- [88] A. Mitridate, T. Trickle, Z. Zhang, and K. M. Zurek, "Dark matter absorption via electronic excitations," JHEP 09 (2021) 123, arXiv:2106.12586 [hep-ph].
- [89] C. W. Misner, K. S. Thorne, and J. A. Wheeler, Gravitation. W. H. Freeman, San Francisco, 1973.
- [90] M. Rakhmanov, "Fermi-normal, optical, and wave-synchronous coordinates for spacetime with a plane gravitational wave," Class. Quant. Grav. 31 (2014) 085006, arXiv:1409.4648 [gr-qc].
- [91] D. Carney, V. Domcke, and N. L. Rodd, "Graviton detection and the quantization of gravity," arXiv:2308.12988 [hep-th].
- [92] D. C. Wallace and H. Callen, "Thermodynamics of crystals," American Journal of Physics 40 no. 11, (Nov, 1972) 1718–1719.
- [93] S. Boughn and T. Rothman, "Aspects of graviton detection: Graviton emission and absorption by atomic hydrogen," Class. Quant. Grav. 23 (2006) 5839-5852, arXiv:gr-qc/0605052.
- [94] G. Kresse and J. Hafner, "Ab initio molecular dynamics for liquid metals," *Physical Review B* 47 no. 1, (Jan, 1993) 558–561.
- [95] G. Kresse and J. Hafner, "Ab initio molecular-dynamics simulation of the liquid-metal-amorphous-semiconductor transition in germanium," *Physical Review B* 49 no. 20, (May, 1994) 14251–14269.
- [96] G. Kresse and J. Furthmüller, "Efficiency of ab-initio total energy calculations for metals and semiconductors using a plane-wave basis set," *Computational Materials Science* 6 no. 1, (Jul, 1996) 15–50.
- [97] A. Togo, "First-principles phonon calculations with phonopy and phono3py," J. Phys. Soc. Jpn. 92 no. 1, (2023) 012001.
- [98] A. Togo, L. Chaput, T. Tadano, and I. Tanaka, "Implementation strategies in phonopy and phono3py," J. Phys. Condens. Matter 35 no. 35, (2023) 353001.
- [99] H. An, M. Pospelov, J. Pradler, and A. Ritz, "Direct detection constraints on dark photon dark matter," Phys. Lett. B 747 (2015) 331-338, arXiv:1412.8378 [hep-ph].

- [100] Y. Hochberg, T. Lin, and K. M. Zurek, "Detecting ultralight bosonic dark matter via absorption in superconductors," *Phys. Rev. D* 94 no. 1, (2016) 015019, arXiv:1604.06800 [hep-ph].
- [101] J. A. Dror, H. Murayama, and N. L. Rodd, "Cosmic axion background," *Phys. Rev. D* 103 no. 11, (2021) 115004, arXiv:2101.09287 [hep-ph]. [Erratum: Phys.Rev.D 106, 119902 (2022)].
- [102] A. Derevianko, V. A. Dzuba, V. V. Flambaum, and M. Pospelov, "Axio-electric effect," Phys. Rev. D 82 (2010) 065006, arXiv:1007.1833 [hep-ph].
- [103] J. Redondo, "Solar axion flux from the axion-electron coupling," JCAP 12 (2013) 008, arXiv:1310.0823 [hep-ph].
- [104] SuperCDMS Collaboration, I. Alkhatib et al., "Light Dark Matter Search with a High-Resolution Athermal Phonon Detector Operated Above Ground," Phys. Rev. Lett. 127 (2021) 061801, arXiv: 2007.14289 [hep-ex].
- [105] CDEX Collaboration, Z. Y. Zhang et al., "Constraints on sub-gev dark matter-electron scattering from the cdex-10 experiment," Phys. Rev. Lett. 129 no. 22, (2022) 221301, arXiv:2206.04128 [hep-ex].
- [106] DAMIC Collaboration, J. R. T. de Mello Neto et al., "The damic dark matter experiment," PoS ICRC2015 (2016) 1221, arXiv:1510.02126 [physics.ins-det].
- [107] DAMIC Collaboration, A. Aguilar-Arevalo et al., "First direct-detection constraints on ev-scale hidden-photon dark matter with damic at snolab," Phys. Rev. Lett. 118 no. 14, (2017) 141803, arXiv:1611.03066 [astro-ph.CO].
- [108] DAMIC Collaboration, A. Aguilar-Arevalo et al., "Constraints on light dark matter particles interacting with electrons from damic at snolab," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **123** no. 18, (2019) 181802, arXiv:1907.12628 [astro-ph.CO].
- [109] DAMIC Collaboration, A. Aguilar-Arevalo et al., "Results on low-mass weakly interacting massive particles from a 11 kg-day target exposure of damic at snolab," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **125** (2020) 241803, arXiv:2007.15622 [astro-ph.CO].
- [110] DAMIC, DAMIC-M Collaboration, M. Settimo, "Search for low-mass dark matter with the damic experiment," in 16th Rencontres du Vietnam: Theory meeting experiment: Particle Astrophysics and Cosmology. 4, 2020. arXiv:2003.09497 [hep-ex].
- [111] EDELWEISS Collaboration, E. Armengaud *et al.*, "Searches for electron interactions induced by new physics in the edelweiss-iii germanium bolometers," *Phys. Rev. D* 98 no. 8, (2018) 082004, arXiv:1808.02340 [hep-ex].
- [112] EDELWEISS Collaboration, E. Armengaud et al., "Searching for low-mass dark matter particles with a massive ge bolometer operated above-ground," Phys. Rev. D 99 no. 8, (2019) 082003, arXiv:1901.03588 [astro-ph.GA].
- [113] EDELWEISS Collaboration, Q. Arnaud et al., "First germanium-based constraints on sub-mev dark matter with the edelweiss experiment," Phys. Rev. Lett. 125 no. 14, (2020) 141301, arXiv:2003.01046 [astro-ph.GA].
- [114] SENSEI Collaboration, M. Crisler, R. Essig, J. Estrada, G. Fernandez, J. Tiffenberg, M. Sofo haro, T. Volansky, and T.-T. Yu, "Sensei: First direct-detection constraints on sub-gev dark matter from a surface run," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 121 no. 6, (2018) 061803, arXiv:1804.00088 [hep-ex].
- [115] SENSEI Collaboration, O. Abramoff et al., "Sensei: Direct-detection constraints on sub-gev dark matter from a shallow underground run using a prototype skipper-ccd," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **122** no. 16, (2019) 161801, arXiv:1901.10478 [hep-ex].
- [116] SENSEI Collaboration, L. Barak et al., "Sensei: Direct-detection results on sub-gev dark matter from a new skipper-ccd," Phys. Rev. Lett. 125 no. 17, (2020) 171802, arXiv:2004.11378 [astro-ph.CO].
- [117] CDMS Collaboration, Z. Ahmed et al., "Search for axions with the cdms experiment," Phys. Rev. Lett. 103 (2009) 141802, arXiv:0902.4693 [hep-ex].
- [118] SuperCDMS Collaboration, R. Agnese et al., "First dark matter constraints from a supercdms single-charge sensitive detector," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **121** no. 5, (2018) 051301, arXiv:1804.10697 [hep-ex]. [Erratum: Phys.Rev.Lett. 122, 069901 (2019)].
- [119] SuperCDMS Collaboration, D. W. Amaral *et al.*, "Constraints on low-mass, relic dark matter candidates from a surface-operated supercdms single-charge sensitive detector," *Phys. Rev. D* 102 no. 9, (2020) 091101, arXiv:2005.14067 [hep-ex].
- [120] S. Baum, K. Freese, and C. Kelso, "Dark matter implications of dama/libra-phase2 results," Phys. Lett. B 789 (2019) 262-269, arXiv:1804.01231 [astro-ph.CO].

- [121] KIMS Collaboration, K. Kim, "Status of the kims-nai experiment," in Meeting of the APS Division of Particles and Fields. 10, 2015. arXiv:1511.00023 [physics.ins-det].
- [122] J. Amaré et al., "First results on dark matter annual modulation from the anais-112 experiment," Phys. Rev. Lett. 123 no. 3, (2019) 031301, arXiv:1903.03973 [astro-ph.IM].
- [123] E. Shields, J. Xu, and F. Calaprice, "Sabre: A new nai(t1) dark matter direct detection experiment," *Phys. Proceedia* 61 (2015) 169–178.
- [124] DM-Ice Collaboration, J. H. Jo, "Results from the dm-ice17 dark matter experiment at the south pole," PoS ICHEP2016 (2017) 1223, arXiv:1612.07426 [physics.ins-det].
- [125] KIMS Collaboration, S. K. Kim, "New results from the KIMS experiment," J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 120 (2008) 042021.
- [126] F. Pröbst et al., "Results of cresst phase i," Nucl. Phys. B Proc. Suppl. 110 (2002) 67–69.
- [127] CRESST Collaboration, G. Angloher et al., "Results on light dark matter particles with a low-threshold cresst-ii detector," Eur. Phys. J. C 76 no. 1, (2016) 25, arXiv: 1509.01515 [astro-ph.CO].
- [128] CRESST Collaboration, F. Petricca et al., "First results on low-mass dark matter from the cresst-iii experiment," J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 1342 no. 1, (2020) 012076, arXiv:1711.07692 [astro-ph.CO].
- [129] L. Canonica et al., "Operation of a Diamond Cryogenic Detector for Low-Mass Dark Matter Searches," J. Low Temp. Phys. 199 no. 3-4, (2020) 606-613.
- [130] Y. Hochberg, M. Pyle, Y. Zhao, and K. M. Zurek, "Detecting Superlight Dark Matter with Fermi-Degenerate Materials," JHEP 08 (2016) 057, arXiv:1512.04533 [hep-ph].
- [131] K. V. Berghaus, R. Essig, Y. Hochberg, Y. Shoji, and M. Sholapurkar, "Phonon background from gamma rays in sub-GeV dark matter detectors," *Phys. Rev. D* 106 no. 2, (2022) 023026, arXiv:2112.09702 [hep-ph].
- [132] P. Du, D. Egana-Ugrinovic, R. Essig, and M. Sholapurkar, "Sources of Low-Energy Events in Low-Threshold Dark-Matter and Neutrino Detectors," *Phys. Rev. X* 12 no. 1, (2022) 011009, arXiv:2011.13939 [hep-ph].
- [133] ADMX Collaboration, C. Boutan et al., "Piezoelectrically Tuned Multimode Cavity Search for Axion Dark Matter," Phys. Rev. Lett. 121 no. 26, (2018) 261302, arXiv:1901.00920 [hep-ex].
- [134] ADMX Collaboration, T. Braine et al., "Extended Search for the Invisible Axion with the Axion Dark Matter Experiment," Phys. Rev. Lett. 124 no. 10, (2020) 101303, arXiv:1910.08638 [hep-ex].
- [135] ADMX Collaboration, C. Bartram et al., "Search for Invisible Axion Dark Matter in the 3.3-4.2 μeV Mass Range," Phys. Rev. Lett. 127 no. 26, (2021) 261803, arXiv:2110.06096 [hep-ex].
- [136] S. Lee, S. Ahn, J. Choi, B. R. Ko, and Y. K. Semertzidis, "Axion Dark Matter Search around 6.7 μeV," Phys. Rev. Lett. 124 no. 10, (2020) 101802, arXiv:2001.05102 [hep-ex].
- [137] HAYSTAC Collaboration, L. Zhong et al., "Results from phase 1 of the HAYSTAC microwave cavity axion experiment," Phys. Rev. D 97 no. 9, (2018) 092001, arXiv:1803.03690 [hep-ex].
- [138] B. T. McAllister, G. Flower, J. Kruger, E. N. Ivanov, M. Goryachev, J. Bourhill, and M. E. Tobar, "The ORGAN Experiment: An axion haloscope above 15 GHz," *Phys. Dark Univ.* 18 (2017) 67-72, arXiv:1706.00209 [physics.ins-det].
- [139] DMRadio Collaboration, L. Brouwer et al., "Proposal for a definitive search for GUT-scale QCD axions," Phys. Rev. D 106 no. 11, (2022) 112003, arXiv:2203.11246 [hep-ex].
- [140] DMRadio Collaboration, L. Brouwer et al., "Projected sensitivity of DMRadio-m3: A search for the QCD axion below 1 μeV," Phys. Rev. D 106 no. 10, (2022) 103008, arXiv:2204.13781 [hep-ex].
- [141] Y. Kahn, B. R. Safdi, and J. Thaler, "Broadband and Resonant Approaches to Axion Dark Matter Detection," Phys. Rev. Lett. 117 no. 14, (2016) 141801, arXiv:1602.01086 [hep-ph].
- [142] J. L. Ouellet et al., "First Results from ABRACADABRA-10 cm: A Search for Sub-µeV Axion Dark Matter," Phys. Rev. Lett. 122 no. 12, (2019) 121802, arXiv:1810.12257 [hep-ex].
- [143] C. P. Salemi et al., "Search for Low-Mass Axion Dark Matter with ABRACADABRA-10 cm," Phys. Rev. Lett. 127 no. 8, (2021) 081801, arXiv:2102.06722 [hep-ex].
- [144] N. Crisosto, P. Sikivie, N. S. Sullivan, D. B. Tanner, J. Yang, and G. Rybka, "ADMX SLIC: Results from a

Superconducting LC Circuit Investigating Cold Axions," Phys. Rev. Lett. **124** no. 24, (2020) 241101, arXiv:1911.05772 [astro-ph.CO].

- [145] J. A. Devlin et al., "Constraints on the Coupling between Axionlike Dark Matter and Photons Using an Antiproton Superconducting Tuned Detection Circuit in a Cryogenic Penning Trap," Phys. Rev. Lett. 126 no. 4, (2021) 041301, arXiv:2101.11290 [astro-ph.CO].
- [146] A. V. Gramolin, D. Aybas, D. Johnson, J. Adam, and A. O. Sushkov, "Search for axion-like dark matter with ferromagnets," *Nature Phys.* 17 no. 1, (2021) 79–84, arXiv:2003.03348 [hep-ex].
- [147] Z. Zhang, D. Horns, and O. Ghosh, "Search for dark matter with an LC circuit," Phys. Rev. D 106 no. 2, (2022) 023003, arXiv:2111.04541 [hep-ex].
- [148] M. Rajagopal and R. W. Romani, "Ultralow frequency gravitational radiation from massive black hole binaries," Astrophys. J. 446 (1995) 543-549, arXiv:astro-ph/9412038.
- [149] A. H. Jaffe and D. C. Backer, "Gravitational waves probe the coalescence rate of massive black hole binaries," Astrophys. J. 583 (2003) 616-631, arXiv:astro-ph/0210148.
- [150] J. S. B. Wyithe and A. Loeb, "Low-frequency gravitational waves from massive black hole binaries: Predictions for lisa and pulsar timing arrays," *The Astrophysical Journal* 590 no. 2, (Jun, 2003) 691–706.
- [151] A. Sesana, F. Haardt, P. Madau, and M. Volonteri, "Low frequency gravitational radiation from coalescing massive black hole binaries in hierarchical cosmologies," *Astrophys. J.* 611 (2004) 623-632, arXiv:astro-ph/0401543.
- [152] S. Burke-Spolaor et al., "The Astrophysics of Nanohertz Gravitational Waves," Astron. Astrophys. Rev. 27 no. 1, (2019) 5, arXiv:1811.08826 [astro-ph.HE].
- [153] J. Ghiglieri and M. Laine, "Gravitational wave background from Standard Model physics: Qualitative features," JCAP 07 (2015) 022, arXiv:1504.02569 [hep-ph].
- [154] J. Ghiglieri, G. Jackson, M. Laine, and Y. Zhu, "Gravitational wave background from Standard Model physics: Complete leading order," JHEP 07 (2020) 092, arXiv: 2004.11392 [hep-ph].
- [155] A. Ringwald, J. Schütte-Engel, and C. Tamarit, "Gravitational Waves as a Big Bang Thermometer," JCAP 03 (2021) 054, arXiv:2011.04731 [hep-ph].
- [156] J. Ghiglieri, J. Schütte-Engel, and E. Speranza, "Freezing-In Gravitational Waves," arXiv:2211.16513 [hep-ph].
- [157] F. Muia, F. Quevedo, A. Schachner, and G. Villa, "Testing BSM physics with gravitational waves," JCAP 09 (2023) 006, arXiv:2303.01548 [hep-ph].
- [158] L. P. Grishchuk, "Amplification of gravitational waves in an istropic universe," Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 67 (1974) 825–838.
- [159] A. A. Starobinsky, "Spectrum of relict gravitational radiation and the early state of the universe," JETP Lett. 30 (1979) 682–685.
- [160] V. A. Rubakov, M. V. Sazhin, and A. V. Veryaskin, "Graviton creation in the inflationary universe and the grand unification scale," *Phys. Lett. B* 115 (1982) 189–192.
- [161] R. Fabbri and M. d. Pollock, "The effect of primordially produced gravitons upon the anisotropy of the cosmological microwave background radiation," *Phys. Lett. B* **125** (1983) 445–448.
- [162] L. F. Abbott and M. B. Wise, "Constraints on generalized inflationary cosmologies," Nucl. Phys. B 244 (1984) 541-548.
- [163] G. Domènech, "Scalar induced gravitational waves review," Universe 7 no. 11, (2021) 398, arXiv:2109.01398 [gr-qc].
- [164] Y. Ema, R. Jinno, K. Mukaida, and K. Nakayama, "Gravitational Effects on Inflaton Decay," JCAP 05 (2015) 038, arXiv:1502.02475 [hep-ph].
- [165] Y. Ema, R. Jinno, K. Mukaida, and K. Nakayama, "Gravitational particle production in oscillating backgrounds and its cosmological implications," *Phys. Rev. D* 94 no. 6, (2016) 063517, arXiv:1604.08898 [hep-ph].
- [166] Y. Ema, R. Jinno, and K. Nakayama, "High-frequency Graviton from Inflaton Oscillation," JCAP 09 (2020) 015, arXiv:2006.09972 [astro-ph.CO].
- [167] E. Witten, "Cosmic separation of phases," Phys. Rev. D 30 (1984) 272–285.
- [168] C. J. Hogan, "Gravitational radiation from cosmological phase transitions," Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 218 (1986) 629–636.

- [169] A. Kosowsky, M. S. Turner, and R. Watkins, "Gravitational radiation from colliding vacuum bubbles," *Phys. Rev. D* 45 (1992) 4514–4535.
- [170] A. Kosowsky and M. S. Turner, "Gravitational radiation from colliding vacuum bubbles: envelope approximation to many bubble collisions," *Phys. Rev. D* 47 (1993) 4372-4391, arXiv:astro-ph/9211004.
- [171] A. Kosowsky, M. S. Turner, and R. Watkins, "Gravitational waves from first order cosmological phase transitions," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 69 (1992) 2026–2029.
- [172] M. Kamionkowski, A. Kosowsky, and M. S. Turner, "Gravitational radiation from first order phase transitions," *Phys. Rev. D* 49 (1994) 2837–2851, arXiv:astro-ph/9310044.
- [173] C. Caprini, R. Durrer, and G. Servant, "Gravitational wave generation from bubble collisions in first-order phase transitions: An analytic approach," *Phys. Rev. D* 77 (2008) 124015, arXiv:0711.2593 [astro-ph].
- [174] S. J. Huber and T. Konstandin, "Gravitational wave production by collisions: More bubbles," JCAP 09 (2008) 022, arXiv:0806.1828 [hep-ph].
- [175] M. Hindmarsh, S. J. Huber, K. Rummukainen, and D. J. Weir, "Gravitational waves from the sound of a first order phase transition," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **112** (2014) 041301, arXiv:1304.2433 [hep-ph].
- [176] J. T. Giblin and J. B. Mertens, "Gravitational radiation from first-order phase transitions in the presence of a fluid," *Physical Review D* 90 no. 2, (Jul, 2014) 023532.
- [177] M. Hindmarsh, S. J. Huber, K. Rummukainen, and D. J. Weir, "Numerical simulations of acoustically generated gravitational waves at a first order phase transition," *Phys. Rev. D* 92 no. 12, (2015) 123009, arXiv:1504.03291 [astro-ph.CO].
- [178] S. Y. Khlebnikov and I. I. Tkachev, "Relic gravitational waves produced after preheating," Phys. Rev. D 56 (1997) 653-660, arXiv:hep-ph/9701423.
- [179] K. Lozanov, Reheating After Inflation. Springer, 2020.
- [180] T. W. B. Kibble, "Topology of cosmic domains and strings," J. Phys. A 9 (1976) 1387–1398.
- [181] T. Damour and A. Vilenkin, "Gravitational wave bursts from cosmic strings," Phys. Rev. Lett. 85 (2000) 3761-3764, arXiv:gr-qc/0004075.
- [182] T. Damour and A. Vilenkin, "Gravitational wave bursts from cusps and kinks on cosmic strings," *Phys. Rev. D* 64 (2001) 064008, arXiv:gr-qc/0104026.
- [183] A. Kosowsky, A. Mack, and T. Kahniashvili, "Gravitational radiation from cosmological turbulence," Phys. Rev. D 66 (2002) 024030, arXiv:astro-ph/0111483.
- [184] A. Nicolis, "Relic gravitational waves from colliding bubbles and cosmic turbulence," Class. Quant. Grav. 21 (2004) L27, arXiv:gr-qc/0303084.
- [185] C. Caprini and R. Durrer, "Gravitational waves from stochastic relativistic sources: Primordial turbulence and magnetic fields," *Phys. Rev. D* 74 (2006) 063521, arXiv:astro-ph/0603476.
- [186] G. Gogoberidze, T. Kahniashvili, and A. Kosowsky, "The Spectrum of Gravitational Radiation from Primordial Turbulence," Phys. Rev. D 76 (2007) 083002, arXiv:0705.1733 [astro-ph].
- [187] T. Kalaydzhyan and E. Shuryak, "Gravity waves generated by sounds from big bang phase transitions," *Phys. Rev. D* 91 no. 8, (2015) 083502, arXiv:1412.5147 [hep-ph].
- [188] E. W. Kolb and M. S. Turner, *The early universe*. Frontiers in physics. Westview Press, Boulder, CO, 1990. https://cds.cern.ch/record/206230.
- [189] S. Vagnozzi and A. Loeb, "The challenge of ruling out inflation via the primordial graviton background," arXiv:2208.14088 [astro-ph.CO].
- [190] M. Maggiore, "Gravitational wave experiments and early universe cosmology," Phys. Rept. 331 (2000) 283-367, arXiv:gr-qc/9909001.
- [191] C. Caprini and D. G. Figueroa, "Cosmological Backgrounds of Gravitational Waves," Class. Quant. Grav. 35 no. 16, (2018) 163001, arXiv:1801.04268 [astro-ph.CO].
- [192] N. Christensen, "Stochastic gravitational wave backgrounds," Reports on Progress in Physics 82 no. 1, (Nov, 2018)

016903.

- [193] R. H. Cyburt, B. D. Fields, K. A. Olive, and T.-H. Yeh, "Big Bang Nucleosynthesis: 2015," *Rev. Mod. Phys.* 88 (2016) 015004, arXiv:1505.01076 [astro-ph.CO].
- [194] C. J. Moore, R. H. Cole, and C. P. L. Berry, "Gravitational-wave sensitivity curves," Class. Quant. Grav. 32 no. 1, (2015) 015014, arXiv:1408.0740 [gr-qc].
- [195] A. Arvanitaki and S. Dubovsky, "Exploring the string axiverse with precision black hole physics," *Phys. Rev. D* 83 (2011) 044026, arXiv:1004.3558 [hep-th].
- [196] A. Arvanitaki, M. Baryakhtar, and X. Huang, "Discovering the qcd axion with black holes and gravitational waves," *Phys. Rev. D* 91 no. 8, (2015) 084011, arXiv:1411.2263 [hep-ph].
- [197] R. Brito, V. Cardoso, and P. Pani, "Superradiance: New frontiers in black hole physics," Lect. Notes Phys. 906 (2015) pp.1-237, arXiv:1501.06570 [gr-qc].
- [198] M. Baryakhtar, M. Galanis, R. Lasenby, and O. Simon, "Black hole superradiance of self-interacting scalar fields," *Phys. Rev. D* 103 no. 9, (2021) 095019, arXiv:2011.11646 [hep-ph].
- [199] S. R. Dolan, "Instability of the massive Klein-Gordon field on the Kerr spacetime," Phys. Rev. D 76 (2007) 084001, arXiv:0705.2880 [gr-qc].
- [200] H. Yoshino and H. Kodama, "Gravitational radiation from an axion cloud around a black hole: Superradiant phase," PTEP 2014 (2014) 043E02, arXiv:1312.2326 [gr-qc].
- [201] W. E. East and F. Pretorius, "Superradiant Instability and Backreaction of Massive Vector Fields around Kerr Black Holes," Phys. Rev. Lett. 119 no. 4, (2017) 041101, arXiv:1704.04791 [gr-qc].
- [202] H. Witek, V. Cardoso, A. Ishibashi, and U. Sperhake, "Superradiant instabilities in astrophysical systems," *Phys. Rev. D* 87 no. 4, (2013) 043513, arXiv:1212.0551 [gr-qc].
- [203] C. Palenzuela, L. Lehner, and S. L. Liebling, "Orbital Dynamics of Binary Boson Star Systems," Phys. Rev. D 77 (2008) 044036, arXiv:0706.2435 [gr-qc].
- [204] G. F. Giudice, M. McCullough, and A. Urbano, "Hunting for Dark Particles with Gravitational Waves," JCAP 10 (2016) 001, arXiv:1605.01209 [hep-ph].
- [205] C. Palenzuela, P. Pani, M. Bezares, V. Cardoso, L. Lehner, and S. Liebling, "Gravitational Wave Signatures of Highly Compact Boson Star Binaries," *Phys. Rev. D* 96 no. 10, (2017) 104058, arXiv:1710.09432 [gr-qc].
- [206] T. Helfer, E. A. Lim, M. A. G. Garcia, and M. A. Amin, "Gravitational Wave Emission from Collisions of Compact Scalar Solitons," *Phys. Rev. D* 99 no. 4, (2019) 044046, arXiv:1802.06733 [gr-qc].
- [207] G. Narain, J. Schaffner-Bielich, and I. N. Mishustin, "Compact stars made of fermionic dark matter," Phys. Rev. D 74 (2006) 063003, arXiv:astro-ph/0605724.
- [208] P. O. Mazur and E. Mottola, "Gravitational vacuum condensate stars," Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. 101 (2004) 9545-9550, arXiv:gr-qc/0407075.
- [209] M. D. Diamond, D. E. Kaplan, and S. Rajendran, "Binary collisions of dark matter blobs," JHEP 01 (2023) 136, arXiv:2112.09147 [hep-ph].
- [210] B. Campbell-Deem, P. Cox, S. Knapen, T. Lin, and T. Melia, "Multiphonon excitations from dark matter scattering in crystals," *Phys. Rev. D* 101 no. 3, (2020) 036006, arXiv:1911.03482 [hep-ph]. [Erratum: Phys.Rev.D 102, 019904 (2020)].
- [211] S. Knapen, T. Lin, and K. M. Zurek, "Light Dark Matter in Superfluid Helium: Detection with Multi-excitation Production," *Phys. Rev. D* 95 no. 5, (2017) 056019, arXiv:1611.06228 [hep-ph].
- [212] G. Baym, D. H. Beck, J. P. Filippini, C. J. Pethick, and J. Shelton, "Searching for low mass dark matter via phonon creation in superfluid ⁴He," *Phys. Rev. D* 102 no. 3, (2020) 035014, arXiv:2005.08824 [hep-ph]. [Erratum: Phys.Rev.D 104, 019901 (2021)].
- [213] D. J. E. Marsh, J. I. McDonald, A. J. Millar, and J. Schütte-Engel, "Axion detection with phonon-polaritons revisited," *Phys. Rev. D* 107 no. 3, (2023) 035036, arXiv: 2209.12909 [hep-ph].
- [214] C. Murgui, Y. Wang, and K. M. Zurek, "Axion Detection with Optomechanical Cavities," arXiv:2211.08432 [hep-ph].

- [215] C. G. Baker, W. P. Bowen, P. Cox, M. J. Dolan, M. Goryachev, and G. Harris, "Optomechanical Dark Matter Direct Detection," arXiv:2306.09726 [hep-ph].
- [216] S. Kanno, J. Soda, and A. Taniguchi, "Search for high-frequency gravitational waves with Rydberg atoms," arXiv:2311.03890 [gr-qc].
- [217] K. Schmieden and M. Schott, "The Global Network of Cavities to Search for Gravitational Waves (GravNet): A novel scheme to hunt gravitational waves signatures from the early universe," arXiv:2308.11497 [gr-qc].
- [218] J. D. Bowman, A. E. E. Rogers, R. A. Monsalve, T. J. Mozdzen, and N. Mahesh, "An absorption profile centred at 78 megahertz in the sky-averaged spectrum," *Nature* 555 no. 7694, (2018) 67-70, arXiv:1810.05912 [astro-ph.CO].
- [219] D. J. Fixsen et al., "ARCADE 2 Measurement of the Extra-Galactic Sky Temperature at 3-90 GHz," Astrophys. J. 734 (2011) 5, arXiv:0901.0555 [astro-ph.CO].
- [220] V. Domcke and C. Garcia-Cely, "Potential of radio telescopes as high-frequency gravitational wave detectors," Phys. Rev. Lett. 126 no. 2, (2021) 021104, arXiv:2006.01161 [astro-ph.CO].
- [221] A. Ito, K. Kohri, and K. Nakayama, "Gravitational wave search through electromagnetic telescopes," arXiv:2309.14765 [gr-qc].
- [222] A. Ito, K. Kohri, and K. Nakayama, "Probing high frequency gravitational waves with pulsars," arXiv:2305.13984 [gr-qc].
- [223] T. Liu, J. Ren, and C. Zhang, "Detecting High-Frequency Gravitational Waves in Planetary Magnetosphere," arXiv:2305.01832 [gr-qc].